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THIS UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT INCLUDES
ALL THE ITEMS OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

DANONE

AIXIF

A French corporation
(société anonyme) with share capital
of 169 443 282,00 euros

Registered office:
17, boulevard Haussmann, 75009 Paris

Paris trade and corporate register number: 552 032 534

This Universal Registration Document was filed with the French Financial Markets Authority (Autorité des Marchés Financiers or AMF) on
March 12, 2024, as the competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, without prior approval pursuant to Article 9 of the said
regulation. The Universal Registration Document may be used for the purposes of an offer to the public of securities or admission of securities
to trading on a regulated market if completed by a securities note and, if applicable, a summary and any amendments to the Universal
Registration Document. The whole is approved by the AMF in accordance with Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

This is a free translation into English for information purposes only.
Copies of this Universal Registration Document are available from Danone at: 17, boulevard Haussmann - 75009 Paris, on Danone'’s website:

www.danone.com and on the website of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers: www.amf-france.org.
A PDF version for visually impaired readers is available at www.danone.com

This Universal Registration Document is a reproduction in PDF format, translated in English, of the official version of the Universal Registration

Document established in XHTML, filed with the AMF on March 12, 2024 and available on the AMF website. This reproduction is available on
Danone’s website.
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Chief Executive Officer

Antoine de SAINT-AFFRIQUE

66 Strong full-year results, consistently

delivering on Renew Danone

“2023 was a year of consistent progress and strong delivery
against our Renew Danone agenda. We put science back at
the heart of what we do and further tied sustainability to
business performance. We made significant progress in
sharpening our portfolio. We further invested behind our
brands, our innovations and our capabilities, progressively
improving the quality of our growth, while creating value for
all stakeholders.

In a context which remains challenging, the progressive
improvement of our volume-mix, turning positive in Q4, the
visible progress made by EDP Europe, and the continued
strong momentum of our Medical Nutrition activity are
encouraging signs, even if lots remains to be done.

2 DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023

?

Building on the positive momentum of 2023, we are starting
this new financial year with confidence in our Renew
strategy. We will continue to focus on consistent execution
and delivery. We will keep progressively improving the
resilience of Danone, further equipping it with the skills,
science and tools it needs to be future fit. As we start
projecting ourselves, we look forward to hosting a Capital
Market Event in June 2024."”

Antoine de SAINT-AFFRIQUE,
Chief Executive Officer



figures 2023

FINANCIAL INDICATORS

+7.0%

ORGANIC SALES GROWTH

+3.4%

RECURRING EPS

SUSTAINABILITY INDICATORS

AAA @

AWARDED BY CDP FOR
THE 5™ YEAR
IN AROW

+142 bps

MARGIN FROM OPERATIONS

€2.6 bn

FREE CASH FLOW

97 bps

REINVESTMENTS

€2.10

DIVIDEND PER SHARE

83% 89%

SALES COVERED SALES IN VOLUMES

BY B CORP™ RATED = 3.5 STARS

CERTIFICATION BY THE HEALTH STAR
RATING SYSTEM

(a) Scores obtained as part of the CDP Climate Change, CDP Water Security and CDP Forests questionnaires.

Key financial figures

Year ended December 31

Reported Like-for-like
(in € millions except if stated otherwise) 2022 changes changes
Sales 27,661 27,619 (0.2)% +7.0%
Recurring operating income ® 3,377 3,481 3.1%
Recurring operating margin ® 12.2% 12.6% 40 pb
Recurring net income - Group share © 2,205 2,283 3.5%
Net income - Group share 959 881 (8.1)%
Recurring EPS (in €) ® 3.43 3.54 3.4%
EPS (in €) 1.48 1.36 (8.0)%
Free cash flow ® 2,127 2,633 23.8%
ROIC 8.9% 9.5% 60 pb

(b) Financial indicator not defined in IFRS, see definition in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined in IFRS.

DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023 3
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND INFORMATION
ON THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1.1 Information about the Issuer

EEN INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER

Legal name and trade name “Danone” (hereafter the “Company”), having been changed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23,

2009 from “Groupe Danone”

Company registration 552 032 534, Paris Trade and Companies Register

APE Industry code 7010Z (activity of registered offices)

Legal entity identifier 969500KMUQ2B6CBAF162 (LEI code)

Date of start of activity January 1, 1908

Term of the Company April 25, 2112, since its extension, in 2013, by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting

Registered office 17, boulevard Haussmann, in Paris (75009), France. Tel.+33 (0)1 44 35 20 20

Website www.danone.com
Information that can be found on the Company's website is not an integral part of this document, except

if incorporated by reference into said document

Information about branches
(Article L.232-1 of the French
commercial code)

Branch (secondary office) located at 17, rue des Deux Gares, Rueil-Malmaison (92500), France

Legal form and applicable law The Company, a French corporation (société anonyme) with a Board of Directors, is subject to the

provisions of Book II of the French commercial code.

Corporate purpose In accordance with Article 2 of its by-laws, Danone’s purpose, whether directly or indirectly, in France and
in any country, shall be: industry and trade relating to all food products; the performance of any and all
property, real estate, industrial, commercial, and financial transactions relating to this purpose.

The by-laws are available on Danone's website www.danone.com (Section Investors/Governance/By-laws,

rules of procedure of the Board of Directors and business conduct policies).

Other information Danone has the status of Entreprise a Mission since July 3, 2020, date on which this status was recorded
at the Paris Trade and Companies Register, following the approval of the Shareholders’ Meeting held on

June 26, 2020.

STATUTORY AUDITORS

PRINCIPAL STATUTORY AUDITORS

Ernst & Young Audit

Member of the Compagnie Régionale

des Commissaires aux comptes de Versailles
et du Centre

Mazars & Associés

Member of the Compagnie Régionale

des Commissaires aux comptes de Versailles
et du Centre

Address

Tour First, 1, place des Saisons, TSA 14444
92037 Paris-La Défense Cedex

61, rue Henri Regnault
92400 Courbevoie Cedex

Represented by

Alexandre CHRETIEN and Gilles COHEN

Achour MESSAS and Gonzague SENLIS

Start date of first term of
office

April 28, 2016 @

April 26, 2022

Expiration date of term of
office

Shareholders’ Meeting deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2027

(a) The first term of office with an entity member of Ernst & Young network began on April 22, 2010 with Ernst & Young et Autres.

6 DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND INFORMATION ON

THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1.2 Information about the Universal Registration Document

INFORMATION ABOUT THE UNIVERSAL
REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts in this Universal Registration
Document are (i) expressed in Euro and (i) presented in millions for
convenience. Such amounts may have been rounded. Rounding
differences may exist, including for percentages.

The financial information presented in section Key figures is extracted
from section 3 Business highlights in 2023 and outlook for 2024 and
from Danone’s consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2023
prepared in accordance with IFRS, which, together with the Notes to

the consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2023 are
presented in section 4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to
the Consolidated financial statements.

REFERENCES AND DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise noted, all the references mentioned hereinafter refer to the following elements:

B Corp certification

International B Corp certification is awarded by the not-for-profit organization B Lab to for-profit
companies demonstrating high social, societal and environmental performance in five impact areas:
Governance, Employees, Community, Environment and Customers.

Category All references to “Category” or “Categories” refer to one or more of Danone's Essential Dairy & Plant-
Based, Specialized Nutrition or Waters activities.

CDP Not-for-profit organization that runs a global disclosure system for investors, companies, cities, states
and regions to help them assess and manage their environmental impacts.

CNAO Zone that refers to China, North Asia & Oceania and includes China, Japan, Australia and New-Zealand.

(China, North Asia, Oceania)

Company

All references to the “Company” refer to Danone as issuer.

Consolidated financial statements,
Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the 2023 fiscal
year.

Danone

All references to “Danone” or the “Group” refer to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Danone’s market shares and market
positions

All references to Danone’s market shares or market positions are derived from third-party market studies
and databases provided in particular by Nielsen, IRI, Euromonitor and Canadean institutes.

Danone's TSR
(Total shareholder return)

Total shareholder return of the DANONE share, dividends reinvested.

Emerging countries

All references to “emerging countries” refer to countries other than mature countries where Danone is
present.

Essential Dairy & Plant-Based
(EDP)

All references to the “Essential Dairy & Plant-Based” or “EDP” Category refer to production and
distribution of fresh fermented dairy products and other dairy specialties, plant-based products and
beverages, and coffee creations.

Europe

Zone that refers to Europe, which includes Ukraine.

FS
(Fidelity Shares)

DANONE shares subject to progressive continuous employment conditions described in section 6.4
Detailed information on long-term compensation plans.

Latam
(Latin America)

Zone that includes Mexico, Brazil, Argentina and Uruguay.

Geographical zone

All references to “geographical zone" or “geographical zones” refer to one or more of Danone's Europe,
Noram, CNAO, Latam and Rest of the World geographical zones.

GPS
(Group performance shares)

DANONE shares subject to performance conditions described in section 6.4 Detailed information on
long-term compensation plans.

GPU
(Group performance units)

Multi-annual  compensation described in section 6.4 Detailed information on

compensation plans.

long-term

DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND INFORMATION
ON THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1.2 Information about the Universal Registration Document

Group All references to the "Group” or “Danone” refer to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Markets All references to “markets” for products in particular, or to market shares, refer to markets for packaged
products and exclude products that may be otherwise marketed or sold.

Market shares and market positions Data pertaining to market shares and market positions are based on the value of sales.

Mature countries All references to “mature countries” refer to Western Europe (particularly France and Southern Europe,
including Spain, Italy and Portugal), North America, Japan, Australia and New Zealand.

Noram Zone that includes the United States and Canada.
(North America)

Universal Registration Document Danone's 2023 Universal Registration Document.

Rest of the World Zone that includes AMEA (Asia, Middle East including Turkey, Africa) and CIS (Commonwealth of
Independent States).

ROIC Ratio of net operating income for the year under review to the average invested capital for the year

(Return on invested capital) under review and for the previous year, as published by Danone in its Universal Registration Document
(see also section 3.4 Review of the Balance Sheet and Financial Security).

Sales Danone's consolidated net sales.

Specialized Nutrition All references herein to the “Specialized Nutrition” Category or “SN” refer to production and distribution

(SN) of formulas and complementary feeding for babies and young children, as well as food for medical
purposes for children and adults with an underlying medical condition.

Société a Mission All references to “Société a Mission" refer to the status provided for in French law which was adopted by
the Company on June 26, 2020.

Waters All references herein to the “Waters” Category refer mainly to plain water, flavored water and functional
beverages.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Pursuant to article 19 of the 2017/1129 Regulation (EU) and to section 36 of IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, requiring that at least one-
year comparative information be presented, this Universal Registration Document incorporates by reference the following information:

2021
Universal Universal
Registration Registration
Incorporation by reference Document Pages Document
Consolidated financial statements and the Statutory
auditors' report for the fiscal year ended December 31 60 to 121 60 to 121
Annual financial statements and the Statutory auditors’ filed with the AMF on filed with the AMF on
report for the fiscal year ended December 31 March 16, 2022 (filing 122to0 142 March 16, 2023 (filing 122 to 142
) o ) number D.22-0109) number D.23-0099)
Selected financial information, the Group’s management
report and all non-financial information for the fiscal year
ended December 31 3 and 42 to 56 3 and 42 to 58

8 DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023



INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND INFORMATION ON
THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1.3 Person responsible for the Universal Registration Document

PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE UNIVERSAL
REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Antoine de SAINT-AFFRIQUE
Chief Executive Officer of Danone

STATEMENT BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE
FOR THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

This is a free translation into English of the Chief Executive Officer's statement issued in French, and is provided solely for the convenience of English-
speaking readers.

Paris, March 12, 2024

"I hereby certify that to my knowledge all the information in this Universal Registration Document is accurate, and that no information liable to alter
its scope has been omitted.

[ certify that, to my knowledge, the financial statements in this document have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards
and provide a faithful representation of the assets, the financial situation, and the results of the Company and of all companies within its scope of
consolidation, and that the management report referred to in the cross-reference table in the Appendix of the present Universal Registration
Document provides a faithful representation of the business trends, results, and financial position of the Company and of all companies within its
scope of consolidation, and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.”

Chief Executive Officer,
Antoine de SAINT-AFFRIQUE

DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023 O



OVERVIEW OFpA\®pA'aqpi 35
RISK FACTORS

710 DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023



2.1 PRESENTATION OF DANONE 12 2.5 SIMPLIFIED

Activities - ORGANIZATIONAL CHART AS
Main Markets 12 OF DECEMBER 31, 2023 22
Parent company Danone SA 22
Subsidiaries 23
2.2 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 13 o )
Main listed companies 23
On-trend Categories and strong brands 13
Strategic Plan “Renew Danone” 14
Win where we are 14 2.6 RISK FACTORS 23
Expand where we should be 15 Identification and control policy
of strategic risks 23
Seed for the future 15 .
Main risk factors 24
Manage our portfolio 15 L L
Description of main risk factors 25
Critical enablers 15
2.7 CONTROL ENVIRONMENT 38
2.3 DESCRIPTION AND Risk . 38
STRATEGY OF THE ZONES 16 S managemen
Organization of the Finance function 38
Europe 16
North America 16 Internal control 39
CNAO 17 Financial and accounting information 41
Latin America 18
Rest of the World 18 2.8 INSURANCE AND RISK
COVERAGE 43
2.4 OTHER ELEMENTS RELATED
TO DANONE'S ACTIVITY
AND ORGANIZATION 19
Distribution 19
Competition 20
Research and Innovation 20
Production sites and equipment 21
Raw materials purchasing 21
Regulatory environment 22

DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023 11



2

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISK FACTORS

2.1 Presentation of Danone

BN PRESENTATION OF DANONE

ACTIVITIES

Danone operates in growing, healthy and on-trend Categories of the
food and beverages sector:

Essential Dairy & Plant-Based (EDP) products (52% of the Group's
Sales in 2023) - Essential Dairy mainly includes yogurts (classic and
drinkable), coffee creations (coffee creamers and ready-to-drink
coffee beverages) and desserts. Plant-Based products mainly
include plant-based beverages and, plant-based alternatives to
yogurts, but also new categories (plant-based ice creams, frozen
desserts, coffee drinks and cheese);

Specialized Nutrition (31% of the Group's Sales in 2023) - covering
formulas and complementary feeding for babies and young
children, as well as food for special medical purposes for children
and adults. The medical nutrition for children includes nutrition
products designed to meet the specific needs of children
diagnosed with certain medical conditions (in particular certain
allergies). The portfolio of adult medical nutrition includes oral
nutritional supplements for patients suffering from malnutrition
caused by illness as well as tube feeding for patients who can no
longer feed themselves normally; and,

Waters (17% of the Group's Sales in 2023) - which includes plain
water, flavored water and functional beverages.

MAIN MARKETS

CONSOLIDATED SALES BY CATEGORY
(in € millions)

4,793
Waters
14,322
EDP
TOTAL
27,619
Specialized
Nutrition

In terms of value, Danone holds the following leadership positions

(in the relevant categories and markets):

H no. 1 worldwide for fresh dairy products;

B no. 1 worldwide for plant-based foods and beverages;
B no. 2 worldwide for packaged waters;

H no. 2 worldwide for early life nutrition;

B no. 4 worldwide for adult medical nutrition.

Danone operates in five geographical zones:

Europe represented 34% of the Group's Sales in 2023, with France,
Spain, Germany and the United Kingdom being the largest markets.
Europe covers all Categories, from EDP to Waters and Specialized
Nutrition.

North America, which represented 25% of the Group's Sales in
2023, includes the United States and Canada. The largest
businesses are Essential Dairy, including yogurts, milk and coffee
related products, and Plant-Based products. Danone is also present
in Specialized Nutrition and Waters.

China, North Asia & Oceania represented 13% of the Group's Sales
in 2023. The zone's biggest country is China, where Danone enjoys
strong leadership positions in infant formula, medical nutrition, and
Waters. The zone also includes Japan, where Danone sells Essential
Dairy & Plant-Based products, as well as Australia and New Zealand
for Specialized Nutrition.

Latin America represented 10% of the Group’s Sales in 2023, with
the largest contributors being Mexico, Brazil and Argentina.

The Rest of the World represented 18% of the Group's Sales in
2023. The zone notably includes:

e Asia Pacific, where the leading country is Indonesia, and

e Africa and the Middle East, where the largest markets are Turkey
and Morocco.

12 DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023

CONSOLIDATED SALES BY GEOGRAPHICAL ZONE
(in € millions)

5,058
Rest of
the World

2,794

Latin
America

6,889

China, North Asia North America

& Oceania



Top 10 countries in terms of sales

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISK FACTORS

2.2 Strategic Priorities

Year ended December 31

(%)

United States 22 % 22 %
China 10 % 11 %
France 8 % 8 %
Indonesia 6 % 6 %
Mexico 5% 5%
United Kingdom 5% 5%
Spain 4% 4%
Germany 3% 4%
Russia 6% 3%
Brazil 3% 3%

(a) Includes the sales of the EDP Russia business from January 1, 2023 until the date of deconsolidation, i.e. July 16, 2023 (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial

statements).

Changes in the ranking from one year to the next also reflect currency fluctuations, especially high volatility in emerging markets.

Top 10 customers

In 2023, Danone’s top 10 customers worldwide (two of which are French) accounted for approximately 21% of its consolidated sales; the top five

customers represented approximately 15% of its consolidated sales.

EE3 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Danone's mission is to bring health through food to as many people as
possible. This mission is rooted in Danone's dual project, as it was
defined in 1972 by the Group founder and then CEO Antoine RIBOUD

ON-TREND CATEGORIES AND STRONG

during a landmark speech in Marseille. Today the Group has kept this
ambition to create both shareholder and societal value.

BRANDS

Danone operates in growing, healthy and on-trend Categories:
Essential Dairy & Plant-Based products (EDP), Waters and Specialized
Nutrition.

In each of those segments, the Group has a unique positioning in the

industry, with:

B a leading position in all the Categories and geographies the Group
operates - in 2023, Danone is worldwide number one in Essential
Dairy Products, number one in Plant-Based, number two in Waters,
number two in early life nutrition and number four in adult medical
nutrition;

B afocus on dynamic Categories:
® in Essential Dairy Products, more than 60% of Danone's

revenues come from high value-added functional segments
such as immunity, gut health, indulgence or high protein. For
example, on the high protein platform, Oikos and YoPro brands
sales kept growing at a fast pace in 2023;

e in Plant-Based, Danone is a leader within a Category that
continues to grow globally, driven by the rise of flexitarianism.
The Group is notably present in Europe (with Alpro) and North
America (with Silk), with a portfolio spanning across all key
segments, from the established beverages segment (ingredient-
based with almond or oat, but also benefit-led with blended
products) to more nascent ones such as yogurts, cheese or ice
cream;

® in Waters, the Group takes advantage of a favorable long-term
trend (plain water will remain the healthiest hydration option)
and of a balanced portfolio between safe tap-water markets -
where it focuses on the premium segment only, and non-safe
tap-water markets where it delivers safe-drinking water;

® in Specialized Nutrition, Danone has a strong leadership
providing milk formula tailored to the needs of babies. It also
supports patients with various medical conditions, such as cow's
milk allergy, metabolic diseases, cancer or stroke, through its
pediatrics and adult medical nutrition;

DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023
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OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISK FACTORS

2.2 Strategic Priorities

B a portfolio of iconic global and local brands, with:

e 3 strong platform of global brands such as Aptamil, Actimel,
Activia, Danone, YoPro, Neocate, Nutricia and evian,
complemented by strong leading local brands;

e a strong focus on health: 90.3% of the Group volume sold is
focused on healthy Categories;

e a pioneer role in sustainability - Danone is on track to become
the largest B CorpTM in the world.

STRATEGIC PLAN “RENEW DANONE"

B 2 balanced geographical footprint, generating about one third of its
sales in emerging markets and almost two thirds in mature
markets;

B strong assets and capabilities around gut health, fermentation,
dairy and plant-based protein, infant nutrition, cow's milk allergy or
medical nutrition support for oncology and patients.

Danone Strategic Plan “Renew Danone”, presented in March 2022, at a
capital market event, by CEO Antoine de SAINT-AFFRIQUE kept
progressing and started yielding results in 2023.

The “Renew Danone” plan aims at restoring Danone's performance,
competitiveness, and value creation for the long-term. It is articulated
around 4 strategic pillars:

B strengthening of Danone’s competitiveness in core Categories and
geographies (“Win where we are”);

B selective expansion of Danone's presence, in terms of segments,
channels and geographies (“Expand where we should be");

B active seeding of future growth avenues (“Seed for the future”)
B active portfolio rotation (“Manage our portfolio”).

WIN WHERE WE ARE

The plan is based upon an end-to-end step up in the quality of
execution, a strengthened innovation model geared for scale and
impact, and increased investments in consumer value, as well as
brands and commercial development. “Renew Danone” was designed
to create the conditions for a sustainable and competitive growth.

Over the 2022-2024 period, focus is on ensuring Danone restarts to
perform at par with its key competitors, reigniting organic growth with
a better balance of volume, mix and price while ensuring profitability
grows faster than topline. During this time, the Group reconnects with
sustainable value creation, with financial targets described in the
section 3.5 Outlook 2024;

In order to “Win where we are”, Danone is deploying a 3-fold approach
that starts with (i) driving the Core. Core products and brands benefit
from an increased support and focus, notably in terms of category
management, advertising & promotion and Research and Innovation
investment.

For example, the EDP Category performance improved over year 2023,
delivering robust growth overall and sequentially improving volume/
mix. This was notably made possible by the repositioning of the key
brands and the review of product portfolio, that has led to the
rationalization of roughly 20% of the least value-creative Stock Keeping
Units (SKUs) in Dairy in Europe.

What has been done with the worldwide Aptamil platform is another
example of what the Group is aiming at, combining both the
renovation of its core and consumer-centric innovation.

14 DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023

“Winning where we are” also means (ii) fixing the underperformers,
with the right sense of urgency and considering all options to create
value with the Group assets. The successful turnaround of Mizone, in
China, deploying the renewed Mizone proposition, is a good illustration
of this effort.

Finally, Danone (iii) is boosting its winners i.e., products and brands
that are growing fast and where it has a competitive advantage, that
shall be rolled out faster at a global level and supported with more
consistence over time. For example, in 2023, the Group has made
significant investment to better seize the opportunities of the medical
nutrition category, a business that has been consistently growing in
double-digit territory. It notably has increased production capacity in
Europe and expanded its portfolio in China, introducing oral nutrition
solutions.



EXPAND WHERE WE SHOULD BE

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISK FACTORS

2.2 Strategic Priorities

Danone also intends to expand where it should be:

B broadening segment coverage, entering new adjacent categories
or formats with strong growth potential, as it is doing with sparkling
and flavored water;

B diversifying revenue base, notably by ensuring consistent presence
across geographies, especially in the platforms where the Group
has demonstrated a competitive advantage, such as Plant-Based
(beyond Europe and the United States);

SEED FOR THE FUTURE

B expanding its channel footprint, lessening its dependency on mass
retail, and ensuring the Group has its fair share in out-of-home,
pharmacies, or food services for example;

B further accelerating in digital, in a situation where online sales now
account for more than 11% of Group Sales, building on the strong
partnerships it has already developed and leveraging the learnings
of its platform in China.

To prepare for the period starting in 2025, and while the key focus of
the teams will be on “Win where we are” and “Expand where we should
be”, Danone will also seed for the future, exploring opportunities
(products, categories, services) that:

MANAGE OUR PORTFOLIO

B are a natural growth area for Danone, given its assets and
capabilities;
B have the potential to structurally improve the Group's resilience.

Fourth pillar of “"Renew Danone” is a tighter management of Danone’s
portfolio. Danone estimates it will rotate a scope of its portfolio that is
equivalent to 10% of its net Sales between 2022 and 2025. In that
context, the Group will seek at disposing or divesting activities that are
underperforming and/or not fitting with Danone’s strategic agenda.
Most recently, Danone announced in January 2024 the sale of Horizon
Organic and Wallaby businesses.

CRITICAL ENABLERS

The Group will also consider bolt on acquisitions, with clear criteria in
terms of added-value (e.g., market access, technology, channel, etc.).
That will be done with two main principles: having a strict control on
value creation metrics (growth, profitability, etc.) and second, staying as
objective as needed with no dogma sacred cows.

Finally, the “"Renew Danone” four strategic pillars are underpinned by
four critical enablers. The Group has already started transforming
initiatives on all of them:

B rebuild strong capabilities, with (i) a greater focus on Research &
Innovation and operations, (ii) transformed IT and data and (iii)
more integrated shared-service centers;

B strengthen a performance-driven culture, evolving short-term and
long-term incentives but also reigniting the longstanding HOPE
(Humanism, Openness, Proximity, Enthusiasm) value and designing
a new human resources strategy;

B reunite performance and purpose to build a more sustainable
Danone, leveraging the Group pioneering role in the area (attested
by ATNI - Access to Nutrition Initiative, CDP, MSCI ESG index),
protecting its license to operate but also generating more impact
for its sustainable initiatives by ensuring they are systematically
supported by a strong business case;

W drive cost competitiveness through a culture of cost leverage and
frugality, as it has been doing over the recent years while it was
transforming its operations, containing the evolution of costs of
good sold and therefore the pricing that had to pass to consumers.
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2.3 Description and Strategy of the Zones

EE] DESCRIPTION AND STRATEGY OF THE ZONES

Starting 2022, as part of its “Renew Danone” strategy, Danone monitors and evaluates its operational performance by geographical zones to reflect

the implementation of its new Local First organization.

EUROPE

Market and Zone description

Europe is Danone's largest operating geographical zone, covering
more than 20 markets and serving more than 500 million consumers
and patients across all channels. It generated €9.4 billion net sales in
2023 (34% of Danone total net Sales), with a balanced portfolio in all
categories: dairy products, plant-based beverages, yogurt & desserts,
Waters, Specialized Nutrition which includes infant milk formulas,
pediatric specialties, adult medical nutrition, and complementary food
for babies. Most of the medical nutrition products - that are often
reimbursed by healthcare systems - are recommended or prescribed
by healthcare professionals (doctors, medical personnel in hospitals,
nursing homes and pharmacies).

The region is home to over 26,000 Danone employees and to a
powerful network of R&I, manufacturing and logistics assets.

Europe is the historical birthplace of Danone, where the first yogurt
was made and sold in a pharmacy in Barcelona over 100 years ago.
Today, the geographical zone is home to some of Danone’'s most iconic
brands with strong resonance and heritage and leverages a balanced
portfolio of global brands (Aptamil, Actimel, Activia, Danone, Alpro,
Nutricia, evian, Volvic) and strong regional and local brands in all
Categories (e.g., Danette in Dairy, Zywiec Zdroj in Waters in Poland,
Blédina in baby food in France), delivering health, nutrition and positive
impact for consumers and patients across their lifespan. Danone's
largest markets in Europe are France, Spain, Germany and the United
Kingdom

Danone is market leader, in 2023, in all the Categories in Europe where
it plays.

Today more than ever, European consumers are looking for great-
tasting, natural and sustainably produced foods and nutritional
solutions that supports their health and their immune systems and

NORTH AMERICA

that can be consumed at different moments throughout the day via
convenient formats. These new expectations are fueling new trends
across all Categories, such as flexitarianism (a diet that emphasizes
more balanced consumption of animal and plant-based proteins), a
growing interest in immunity, fermented products, biotics and high-
protein products, and rising demands over the health and planet
impacts of the products they consume.

Europe zone is highly committed to sustainability and has a strong
roadmap in place e.g., to increase the use of recycled PET in key water
brands such as evian and Volvic or to remove sleeves on the Actimel
products, making packaging easier to recycle and decreasing its
carbon footprint.

Strategy

Aligned with Danone’s mission, Europe zone aims at bringing health
through food to as many people as possible, impacting positively
people’s health and planet and delivering sustainable profitable
growth, always putting consumers & patients at the center. Leveraging
the “Renew Danone” strategic framework, Europe’s strategy mainly
focuses on:

B the strengthening of Danone’s competitiveness in core Categories
pushing for innovation & superiority, starting with Dairy in
immunity, gut health, and indulgence; alternatives to dairy proteins
leveraging Alpro brand equity; Infant milk formula and medicalized
solutions from infant to adult, building on the strength of Danone
trusted brands and unique market access model;

B the selective expansion in attractive and growing segments such as
High Protein for pleasure, health and performance or sparkling
waters, while also continuing to expand in growing channels, in e-
commerce or in away-from-home channels.

Market and Zone description

North America is Danone's second geographical zone contributing to
25% of total Sales in 2023 (€6.9 billion), composed of the United States
and Canada. North America’s scope spans leading or strong challenger
positions across several Categories:

B Dairy: the business spans across yogurt, milk, and coffee related
products;
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® Yogurt: the category which is the largest in the zone, consists of
trusted brands with strong heritage and local relevance, such as
Oikos, Light & Fit, and Activia. Danone is the market leader in
both the United States and Canada;

e (offee creations: the business comprises coffee creamers and
ready-to-drink coffee beverages, mainly sold under the
International Delight and Stok brands, enabling consumers to
replicate the coffeehouse experience at home or on the road;



B Plant-Based: the business, spanning the Silk, So Delicious, and Follow
Your Heart brands, offers beverage and food products that help
consumers diversify their sources of protein and enjoy nutritional
and great-tasting dairy-free offerings;

B Specialized Nutrition: the business in North America is led by the
Happy Family brand - a market leader in the organic baby food and
organic infant milk formula categories; Additionally, the Nutricia
brand continues to expand in North America, anchored in pediatric
specialties, tube feeding, faltering growth, and frailty;

B In Waters, Danone is present in North America through the evian
brand.

CNAO

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISK FACTORS

2.3 Description and Strategy of the Zones

North American consumers' fundamental demand drivers continue to
be well served by Danone emphasizing a heightened desire for health
and wellness, sustained at home eating, accelerated digital shopping
and engagement and elevated social connectivity.

Strategy

In North America, Danone’s strategy focuses on growing its consumer-
centric leading brands across its priority segments (yogurt, coffee
creations, plant-based beverages and food, Specialized Nutrition), and
creating customer value in priority channels. Efforts are underpinned
by ongoing efforts to strengthen and improve the key enablers, from
mission and sustainability to cost competitiveness and winning growth
capabilities and culture.

Market and Zone description

The CNAO (China, North Asia & Oceania) geographical zone operates
across four markets (China, Japan, Australia, and New Zealand). It
generated €3.5 billion net Sales in 2023 (13% of Danone total net
Sales). In CNAO, Danone occupies leading or strong challenger
positions in all categories and territories where it plays and is gaining
share with a compact portfolio of locally relevant value propositions.

In China, the barycenter of the geographical zone and Danone's
second largest market, Danone has built three solid business platforms
with distinctive assets:

B infant milk formula is Danone's largest platform, a clear leader
among multinational companies thanks to a tight portfolio of
premium Chinese and international labels, supported by global and
local science. The Aptamil brand is a leading brand in the market,
and the most successful global infant milk formula brand in China
today;

B next to infant milk formula, Danone plays a leading role in two
therapeutic areas of the medical nutrition category: the adult tube
feeding in hospital and pediatric allergy. Present in 90% of the top tier
hospitals, it serves more than half of total China's hospital patients,
with a strong reputation amongst authorities and scientific experts;

W finally, Danone Waters Category, built around the Mizone brand,
runs a lean and efficient business model with a large local
manufacturing footprint, delivering industry leading productivity
and a cost-efficient route to market serving convenience stores or
traditional trade. The Mizone brand celebrated its 20" anniversary
in 2023 and is consumed by more than 350 million urban Chinese,
helped by wide numerical distribution. It is the number 1 brand in
functional beverages, occupying a leading position within the very
large Waters Category.

Danone Japan is focused on successfully unlocking growth from the
Fresh Dairy and Plant-based Categories. Danone Japan is a strong
challenger, number five in the yogurt category, growing fast thanks to
the functional brands Bio (Activia) on gut health and Oikos on high
protein. Danone also leads the plant-based oat milk category with the
recently launched Alpro brand.

In Australia and New Zealand, Danone is the clear leader in infant milk
formula and healthcare nutrition.

Strategy

CNAO is a growth focus for Danone and will continue to leverage its
proven local assets and resilience to push for further market share
gains, as well as diversifying the portfolio by entering adjacent
categories where appropriate, along the “Renew Danone” framework.
To execute this strategy, Danone will leverage its digital and data
expertise, at the service of media efficiency and content effectiveness,
social and e-commerce mastery, as well as controlled expansion of
route to markets. Danone's leading-edge global science will be further
complemented by local real-world evidence from health tech initiatives,
to demonstrate its impact on local health through nutrition.
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2.3 Description and Strategy of the Zones

LATIN AMERICA

Market and Zone description

In LATAM (Latin America), the Group benefits from a portfolio of strong
local and global brands that have a great consumer connection. In
2023, the geographical zone generated €2.8 billion net sales (10% of
Danone's total net Sales) across all Categories mainly in Mexico, Brazil
and Argentina.

Dairy and Plant-based products are distributed in all main countries of
the zone (Mexico, Brazil, Argentina and Uruguay) with leadership
position on high protein and kids products notably. Main brands
available in Latin America are Danone, Danonino, La Serenisima, Activia
and, Danette.

Specialized Nutrition is available for both infants and adults. In
Argentina, Danone is number 1 player of both segments. Global
brands are well deployed across markets with the distribution of
Aptamil, Nutrilon, Neocate and Nutridrink.

REST OF THE WORLD

Waters relies on powerful local brands such as Bonafont (number 2 in
Mexico) or Salus in Uruguay, which stands as undeniable market leader
with +70% market share. The Category plays an important role in
countries where tap water is considered unsafe.

Strategy

Latin America is a key region for the Group, where Danone will keep
focusing on profitable growth through the following levers:

B drive essential aspect and superiority of core business;

B accelerate on functional and kids propositions in Essential Dairy
Products;

B expand channels;

B keep creating value whilst delivering on Danone Impact Journey.

Market and Zone description

The Rest of the World geographical zone is made up of mostly
emerging markets and approximately covers half of the world
population. In 2023, the zone generated net sales of €5.1 billion (18%
of Danone’s total net Sales), across all Danone’s Categories:

B in Specialized Nutrition with large presence in the zone and leading
position in infant milk formulas in several countries and regions -
Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, UAE, Turkey and, several countries in
Africa;

B in Dairy, with presence in several countries across the African
continent, where Danone is the leader in fresh dairy overall and in
Turkey;

B in Waters, with leading positions notably in Indonesia, and Turkey.

The Group benefits from a portfolio of strong local and global brands,
that have a strong consumer connection:

B heritage brands that contributed to create and build Categories
such as Danone, Danonino, Activia and Danette (EDP), AQUA (Waters),
SGM (Specialized Nutrition) in Indonesia; Bebelac in Indonesia,
Turkey, Middle East and North Africa; Dumex in South-East Asia;
Ultramel and Nutriday in South Africa; Fan Milk in West Africa; Jamila
and Salim in Morocco; Aptamil in Turkey, Middle East, North Africa
and India, etc.;

B continued ability to grow new platforms such as:
® HiQ functional dairy beverages in Thailand,
e indulgence with Danette in Africa,
e Alpro, which is the plant-based market leader in Turkey.
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Danone sells its products across channels, with presence in millions of
traditional and proximity stores, serving the fast-growing modern
trade channel, hospitality as well as specialized channels like
pharmacies. E-commerce is now developing across the geographical
zone and Danone is leading this trend, enjoying strong e-commerce
positions in South-East Asia for example.

The zone focuses its sustainability efforts on actions that are locally
relevant and fully contributing to the Danone Impact Journey.
Examples include (i) an affordable infant milks and cereals formula
offering that help consumers tackle iron deficiency (i) continued efforts
to lead circularity in Indonesia and (iii) a commitment to develop a
sustainable milk value chain (impacting thousands smallholder farmers
in its milk collection network in Africa).

Strategy

Rest of the World will continue to be a growth engine for Danone, with
a focus on:

B driving its core portfolio of Dairy, Waters and Specialized Nutrition
brands e.g., pursuing the development of Specialized Nutrition in
South-East Asia, India, Turkey, Africa, and Middle-East;

B fixing some of its underperforming cells, e.g., transforming
traditional dairy portfolios in emerging markets;

B winning in e-commerce and closing gaps in route to market where
needed.
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2.4 Other elements related to Danone's activity and organization

OTHER ELEMENTS RELATED TO DANONE'S ACTIVITY

AND ORGANIZATION

DISTRIBUTION

Although they vary to reflect local specificities, Danone's distribution
models reflect five main approaches:

B distribution aimed at major retail chains
supermarkets, chained convenience, discounters);

(hypermarkets,

W distribution to traditional independent proximity market outlets;
W distribution to e-commerce;

B distribution to away-from-home outlets (e.g., hotels, restaurants,
coffees);

B distribution to specialized distribution channels (hospitals, clinics,
pharmacies and homecare).

Danone is constantly streamlining its logistics flows in order to improve
service quality while reducing costs. This policy is based on an ongoing
assessment of its organization, notably through outsourcing of
distribution in collaboration with specialized companies.

Major retail chains (hypermarkets,
supermarkets, chained convenience,
discounters)

Danone establishes global partnerships with its main customers in
order to help develop the sales of its products. These partnerships are
based on jointly developed business plans that cover all aspects of the
global collaboration and highlight the key growth pillars such as
logistics collaboration, channel specific sales development, Categories
development, global sustainability projects such as food waste,
recycling programs, health improvement programs or food safety
management.

More specifically, Danone has taken several initiatives to work closely
with large retailers in order to optimize the flow of goods and the
inventory levels of its customers with the Efficient Consumer Response
(ECR) approach. In addition to inventory management, automatic
inventory replenishments and just-in-time delivery, ECR aims at
working with distributors to better manage consumer demand and
expectations at the sales points. To that end, the Group has
implemented shared inventory management systems with its leading
distributors that are used to coordinate inventory levels among stores,
as well as at the distributors’ and Danone’s warehouses.

Danone also works with its customers to develop specific marketing
activities such as joint promotions that answer consumers' needs in
each market and channel.

With its unigue positioning & portfolio, Danone is a privileged partner
for its customers on joint sustainability agenda - developing value
creation initiatives around health, planet & social responsibility.

Traditional independent market outlets

Globally, and in the emerging countries particularly, a large portion of
Danone’s sales is generated through traditional market outlets. An in-
house sales force and/or exclusivity agreements with distributors or
wholesalers represent a competitive advantage for the Group in
countries in these markets.

Moreover, in Latin America and Asia, a significant portion of the Waters
offer is directly distributed to consumers (Home & office delivery -
HOD).

Finally, in emerging countries, Danone is developing new local retail
models through large networks of independent sellers to provide
access to affordable healthy products.

E-commerce

Danone is stepping up its capabilities in e-commerce and satisfy
growing consumer demand through this specific business model.
There are mainly three different types of e-commerce:

W brick-and-mortar players (retailers that run sell online on top of
their core business in physical stores);

B pure players (companies selling exclusively online);

B direct to consumer (a proprietary Danone website that enables
sales directly to consumers without intermediaries) & other
growing e-commerce sub-channels such as quick delivery & social
commerce.

Danone works with its customers to make the most of the growing
share of grocery sales happening online. For example, exclusive online,
taylor-made content is key to ensure consumer understanding and
trust in Danone’s products.
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Away-from-home outlets

Danone products are distributed in away-from-home outlets (e.g.,
hotels, restaurants, coffees, travel, institutions such as schools or
offices, etc.) which is the opportunity to expose Danone brands, recruit
new consumers, embrace and develop habits of consumption. Danone
partners both with major chained players and independent points of
sale (usually leveraging local distributors as intermediaries).

COMPETITION

Specialized distribution channels (hospitals,
clinics, pharmacies and homecare)

For the Specialized Nutrition Category, a significant portion of products
are marketed in hospitals, clinics and pharmacies, through specialized
distributors or following a tendering process. In homecare, the medical
nutrition products and services (e.g. nursing services, education and
care) are provided directly to patients at home. Danone also maintains
an ongoing relationship with healthcare professionals through its
medical representatives, who meet with general practitioners and
specialists  (pediatricians,  allergists, oncologists, geriatricians,
nutritionists, dieticians, etc.), as well as pharmacists.

The packaged food and beverage sector is highly competitive due to
the large number of national and international players. Danone is
confident that its strategy for profitable growth is strongly supported
by the quality, taste, affordable cost and innovative nature of its
products, and by its powerful brand image in the key areas of health,
nutrition and societal and environmental responsibility.

Danone believes that strong local market positions are key to success
in the food and beverage industry and strives to be the leader in each
segment and in every country where it operates, while remaining
compliant with competition law and regulations. This strategy enables
it to build a long-lasting, balanced and constructive relationship with
major distribution networks, by marketing key products yielding
growth and profitability for both parties.

Category Product range

Competitive environment

EDP Fresh dairy products

Large multinational food and beverage companies (Nestlé, General Mills, Lactalis,
Mdiller), many predominantly local companies specializing in certain product lines or
markets (e.g. Chobani, Wimm-Bill-Dann, FrieslandCampina, Lala, Meiji, Arla, Fage), and
private labels.

Plant-based products and
beverages

A few large international companies (Coca-Cola, Hain Celestial, Nestlé, Unilever),
predominantly local companies specializing in certain product lines or markets (Blue
Diamond, Califia Farms, Triballat, Ecotone, Oatly, Valsoia, Chobani, Upfield) and private
labels.

Coffee creations

A few large food and beverage multinationals (e.g. Nestlé), predominantly local
companies specializing in certain product lines or markets (Hood, Chobani) and private
labels.

Specialized Nutrition Early life nutrition

Multinational early life nutrition companies (Abbott, Reckitt/Mead Johnson, Nestlé) and
some local companies and/or companies specializing in certain product lines or
segments (e.g. HIPP, Kendamil Biostime, a2 Milk, Yili, Feihe).

Adult nutrition

Multinational clinical nutrition and pharmaceutical companies (Nestlé, Abbott,
Fresenius) and some local companies specializing in certain product lines or segments
(e.g. Nutrisens, Nualtra, Aymes).

Waters Waters

International beverage companies (Coca-Cola, PepsiCo, Nestlé) and local companies
(e.g. Mayora in Indonesia, Nongfu and China Resources in China, Neptune in France).

RESEARCH AND INNOVATION

Danone's mission is to bring health through food to as many as
possible. Danone Research and Innovation owns the ambition to
design superior products and solutions for consumers & patients at
every life stage. Drawing strength from a legacy of over 100 years of
solving consumer needs, Danone Research and Innovation is
represented by one united team of 1,700 world-class experts
innovating with over 800 new products annually across more than 50
countries. At Danone, products are designed and developed with the
best user experience possible: delicious and convenient, affordable
and sustainable in accordance with the Danone Impact Journey
commitments.
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Danone Research and Innovation is shaping the future of nutrition,
backed by more than 150 scientific publications, 100 clinical studies
and a portfolio of 5,000 patents.



Danone Research and Innovation focuses its scientific and
technological assets on key topics considering new trends and insights
on everyday nutrition and hydration, gut health, children growth,
immunity and allergy, physical energy and performance, mental well-
being & brain health and recovery.

To achieve this, Research and Innovation relies on:

B people, with more than 1,700 experts spread across:

® one global Research and Innovation center on two locations
(Paris-Saclay, France and Utrecht, Netherlands), leveraging their
respective science & technological capabilities and eco-systems,

e six specialized centers (packaging in France, precision nutrition
D-Lab in Singapore, fresh dairy technology in Spain, Plant-based
in Belgium and the USA, Specialized Nutrition in China),

e 55 |ocal Danone subsidiaries;

B consumer centricity: to offer superior and innovative solutions in
terms of consumer and patient experience, nutritional quality, and
respect for the environment, and to better meet their needs as well
as market expectations;

PRODUCTION SITES AND EQUIPMENT

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISK FACTORS
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B healthy portfolio: the nutritional quality of Danone's portfolio is
regularly assessed according to schemes based on WHO guidelines
with special attention to sugar. For more information on how
Danone is offering consumers healthy products, see section 5.2
Health through food;

B being sustainable by design: ongoing sustainability program
reviewing ingredients and packaging to continuously improve
products and processes from quality, decarbonation and
sustainability angle. Specifically, Research and Innovation focused
on plant-based and alternative sources of proteins as well as
innovative and efficient technologies to reduce carbon footprint
and making the packaging circular;

B Cooperation initiatives and partnerships with the academic and
scientific world, especially with top universities, academic research
centers worldwide, suppliers, industry players and start-ups.

Further details about Research and Innovation’s strategy and activities
are available on Danone’s website www.danone.com.

Danone has production facilities in its principal markets around the
world. The Group's general policy is to own its production facilities.
Danone’'s many production facilities are widely dispersed
internationally, except for those producing Specialized Nutrition
products, which are more concentrated. As of December 31, 2023,
Danone had 153 production sites.

RAW MATERIALS PURCHASING

Danone also rents some facilities, notably offices and warehouses.

The production sites are inspected regularly to assess potential
improvements to quality, environmental protection, safety and
productivity.

Danone's raw material needs consist primarily of:

B materials needed to produce food and beverage products, mainly
milk, fruits and sugar. In terms of value, milk is the main raw
material purchased, primarily in the form of liquid milk, for which
the operating subsidiaries typically enter into agreements with local
producers or cooperatives. Its price is set locally, over contractual
periods that vary from one country to another. The other main food
raw materials are prepared fruit products;

B product packaging materials, in particular plastics and cardboard.
Packaging purchases are managed through regional or global
purchasing programs to optimize skills and volume effects. Prices
are influenced by supply and demand at the global and regional
levels, economic cycles, production capacities and oil prices;

B energy supplies, including electricity and gas for factories and
diesel for transportation.

Danone’s strategy increasingly focuses on the upstream portion of its
activities and in particular its supply of raw materials, not only to
manage its costs but also to make it a source of value creation and
competitive differentiation.

Since fluctuations in the price of its main raw materials can impact the
structure of its results, Danone takes the following measures to
manage cost volatility:

B continuous productivity gains: Danone strives in particular to
optimize its use of raw materials (reduction in production waste,
lighter packaging, more effective use of milk subcomponents in its
products, reduction of energy consumption and shift toward
renewable energies) and take advantage of pooled purchasing, for
example through centralized management of ingredient and
packaging purchases;

B Market Risk Management (MRM) purchasing policy defining the
rules for securing the physical supply and for setting prices with
suppliers and/or on financial markets when they exist. The global
procurement team monitors exposures and implements the
purchasing policy for each raw materials category, with support
from the Finance MRM team for the price setting strategy.
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REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Danone carries out its activities in a complex, fast-changing and
increasingly stringent regulatory environment.

Danone's products are subject to various local, national and regional
laws and regulations in such varied fields as product safety, health and
nutrition claims, production, labelling, packaging, storage, transport,
distribution, marketing, product advertising and use. In the many
countries where the Group operates, it is also subject to a wide range
of environmental laws and regulations regarding the use of plastics,
food waste, energy, waste management, water treatment, greenhouse
gas emissions and, more generally, environmental protection.

Moreover, some countries regulate Danone's activities by issuing
permits and inspecting its plants and production sites, by requiring
registration before it can sell or refund certain products, by applying
standards for some food products and by classifying food products
and/or regulating commercial practices related to the sale and price-
setting of food products. Many of the food ingredients used by Danone
in its activities are subject to the governmental agricultural policies and
intervention. The focus on issues related to human rights in the
sector’s supply chains has led to the drafting of regulations in many
countries. These regulations and policies are subject to regular
governmental and administrative controls.

SIMPLIFIED ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023

Danone SA
(France)

Compagnie Gervais
Danone
(France)

Holding internationale
de Boissons
(France)

Danone Baby & Medical
Nutrition Dan Investments SAS
:A'A (France)
(NSGIEERES)

(a) Indirectly owns Evian Resort, which operates the Evian casino and is therefore subject to the supervision of the French Ministry of the Interior and to the requlations

applicable to gaming activities in casinos

Geographical Zones

Categories

Europe®
North America

China, North Asia & Oceania
@

(b)

Latin America
Rest of the World ©

B Essential Dairy & Plant-Based (EDP)
B Specialized Nutrition
m Waters

(a) Europe incl. Ukraine

(b) United States and Canada

(c) China, Japan, Australia and New Zealand

(d) Mexico, Brazil, Argentina and Uruguay

(e) Rest of the World including Asia-Pacific, Africa and Middle East

PARENT COMPANY DANONE SA

Danone SA is the parent company of the Group. It has mainly a role of
(i) holding by directly or indirectly owning, in particular through its four
main sub-holdings listed above, companies of the group, and (ii)
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coordination of the main functions and activities, with an average
number of 1,042 employees in 2023.
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The list of Danone’s consolidated subsidiaries can be consulted on Danone’s website www.danone.com.

MAIN LISTED COMPANIES

As of December 31, 2023

Category Listing market

Fan Milk PLC ©

EDP Ghana (Africa)

(a) Fully consolidated company.

X risk FACTORS

IDENTIFICATION AND CONTROL POLICY OF STRATEGIC RISKS

Like any group, Danone faces external and internal risks as well as
uncertainties in the implementation of its strategy and in the conduct
of its business. The main specific risks Danone believes it is exposed to
as of the date of this Universal Registration Document are described in
the following section. Other risks that could adversely affect the Group
in the future may exist; they may be general risks or risks that Danone
is unaware of or considers non material as of the date of this Universal
Registration Document.

Danone maintains an active risk identification and management policy
aimed at protecting and developing its assets and reputation, the
achievement of its targets and objectives, and protecting the interests
of its consumers, shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, the
environment, the people impacted by its activity, and its other
stakeholders without guaranteeing the total absence of risks.

Part of both the Group Finance Direction and the Sustainability &
Strategy & Business Development Direction, the Strategic Planning
Department is responsible for identifying and monitoring Danone'’s
strategic risks, and for coordinating the different processes for
managing Danone’s risks.

To that end, it is supported by the Risk Committee, a group of senior
executives from key functions in the Group. This Committee notably
ensures emerging risks are detected and reported, enables the
integration of external input in the process and steers deep dives on
select risks, as needed.

The strategic risk mapping takes the form of a risk mapping hierarchy
based on their likelihood of occurrence and their estimated impact on
the Group, as described hereafter.

Methodology

This risk mapping is prepared and updated bi-annually by the Group
Strategic Planning Department. This process is part of annual strategic
planning and results in the development of the new mapping with its
related preventive actions. The following methodology is used:

B identification of the risks considered as material by Country
Business Units, with support from the main corporate functions;

B consolidation of the major risks at Group level and integration of
systemic risks not perceptible at the Country Business Unit level;

B ranking of risks based on their likelihood of occurrence and
estimated financial impact, at the level of a Country Business Unit or
of the Group;

B determination of preventive or corrective actions, which may be
cross-functional or specific to the Country Business Units.

Risk monitoring

The most significant risks are reviewed during special meetings of
Country Management Committees attended by the General Manager
and under the responsibility of the financial director of the country.
These meetings happen at least once a year in all Country Business
Units (CBUs) of the Group.

A review of the most significant risks is also presented twice a year by
the Head of Strategic Planning to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of Danone. A mapping of Danone’s major risks and
risk mitigation plans are reviewed and assessed. This work serves as
the basis for the presentations made to the Executive Committee, to
the Audit Committee and to the Board of Directors.
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MAIN RISK FACTORS

The summary table of main risks specific to Danone hereafter presents the classification of the risks in three types: (1) Strategic risks, (2) External
Environment risks and (3) Operational risks.

Danone's main risks have been assessed on the basis of the probability of their occurrence and the expected magnitude of their negative impact,
after taking into account risk management measures effect, to give an assessment of the materiality of each risk. The most material risks are
mentioned first in each type and the materiality of each risk is disclosed by using a three-level rating scale , m M) as follows.

Strategic risks strong Over reliance on principal markets and exposure to geopolitical economical and societal instability

strong Packaging

ST Fast changes in consumer preferences

GG Retail shift

External environment risks strong Raw materials and energy price volatility & availability

LI | egal & Regulatory

Impact of climate change on value chain

Currency volatility

Sanitary crisis

Operational risks Cybersecurity

Food safety & product quality issues

Shortage of talent

Business transformation

The description of main risks specific to Danone, with their possible negative impacts and measures implemented to manage them are set out
hereafter.
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Strategic risks

Description

Management measures

m Over reliance on principal markets and exposure to geopolitical, economical and societal instability

In 2023, Danone's top-5 markets (United States, China, France,
Indonesia and Mexico) accounted for 52% of its consolidated sales. Any
poor performance by one or more of Danone’s businesses within one
or several of these five countries, due to economic slowdown, political
instability, geopolitical tensions, sanitary crisis, increasing taxes, more
stringent regulations, or for any other reasons, would be likely to have
a negative impact on Danone's activities and results of the whole
Group, thus jeopardizing the achievement of its strategic mandates
and financial objectives.

This is particularly relevant for China, Danone’s second largest country
in terms of contribution to the Group's Sales (around 10%) and the
largest in terms of contribution to its profits. Danone’s business in China
is articulated around three activities: infant milk formula, medical
nutrition and beverages.

Within Specialized Nutrition, infant milk formula products sold to
Chinese consumers are mostly manufactured in factories located
outside China. Changes in public policies or regulation, such as a more
stringent regulation of cross-border trade, could limit Danone’s ability
to pursue or develop its business activities and/or expose Danone to
incur additional constraints, costs or investments. This could lead to
significant adverse effects on the sales, margin and financial position of
Danone in China and globally.

One of Danone’s key priorities is to further build out the resilience of
the Group, both at company and country-level. With this in mind,
Danone has elaborated a strategy building on:

B strong positions in the markets in which it operates with special
attention to the principal markets;

B [ocal synergies across categories and channels, enabled by the
Group operating model;

W significant synergies across regions to mitigate local risks such as
global innovation or global procurement of important raw
materials. Danone regularly reviews its portfolio with an objective to
balance its strategic opportunities and risks across Categories and
geographies.

In parallel, Danone has developed a reporting system to monitor its
activity and the potential impact of economic conditions in countries
where it is present. Specifically regarding the resilience of Danone's
model in China, the company has:

B actively refocused its infant milk formula on controlled channels,
and away from uncontrolled channels;

B accelerated growth in the medical nutrition segment and invested
in the turnaround of the Mizone beverage business in order to
balance the revenue exposure.

In line with this approach, Danone now operates a Research and
Innovation facility in Shanghai, as well as local manufacturing facilities
for infant milk formula. The Group has also been broadening its local
medical nutrition offering.
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Description

Management measures

Packaging is essential for Danone's business as it allows food and
beverages protection, an increased shelf-life, and a reduction of food
waste. Danone’s total packaging represented 1.39 million tons in 2023,
out of which plastic represented 0.69 million tons.

However, there is a global focus on plastics because of its associated
risks on nature, human rights, and quality & food safety. As a result,
pressures from regulators, retailers, NGOs, and consumers around
plastics are moving at an unprecedented pace.

In many countries, packaging design and packaging waste
management is now regulated through measures related to reduction,
including reuse, recyclability, and use of recycled material, on top of
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) framework. For example, the EU
Directive 2019/904 on single-use plastics requires ban of plastic spoons
and straws, minimum of recycled material in plastic beverages bottles,
on top of tethered caps implementation, reduction of specific plastic
food container through reuse, increased EPR fees and/or recyclability
requirements. These requirements shall progressively apply in the
European Union, through transposition in Member States legislations.

In this context, Danone is transitioning towards a circular and low
carbon packaging system, which could result in a cost increase related,
for instance, to packaging redesign, alternative materials usage, or
recycled materials integration.

In the event where:

B Danone would not deliver its Danone Impact Journey ambition and
notably reduce sufficiently its use of virgin fossil-based plastics;

B Reuse and Recycling systems and infrastructure do not realize the
required scale up;

Danone could be exposed to the following risks: (i) reputational risks, (ii)
challenges on its license to operate, in relation to regulatory measures,
retailers packaging restrictions that can induce additional costs, (iii)
consumer preferences evolution impacting the demand for the Group’s
products.

Danone strives to offer nutritious, high-quality food and drinks in
packaging that is 100% circular and low carbon. This means all the
packaging is designed to be safely reused, recycled, or composted
and ensuring the material stays in the economy and does not become
waste or pollution. The Group fully embraced the ambition of a
circular economy of packaging when it joined Ellen MacArthur
Foundation's (EMF) New Plastics Economy initiative in 2017, and
signed the 2018 Global Commitment on Plastics, spearheaded by
EMF.

Since then, Danone has been working to advance on its targets as
well as to advocate for a collective global transition. Since 2018,
Danone has demonstrated tangible progress in key areas such as:
virgin plastic reduction, reuse, recyclability rate, and recycled content.
Between 2018 and 2023, Danone has reduced 8% its use of plastic
packaging and 16% its use of virgin fossil-based plastic.

Still,  the Group has experienced systemic barriers from
underdeveloped reuse, collection and recycling infrastructure to
scarcity of recycled content.

These systemic barriers need to be overcome together with (i) other
industry players across the value chain and (i) policy makers, notably
through regulation. This is why Danone has advocated since 2020
with World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) and EMF for an ambitious
and binding United Nations Treaty on Plastics as this is an important
opportunity in unlocking and accelerating the Group own progress on
plastics circularity.

Building on challenges faced and the learnings gathered over the last
years, while acknowledging the need to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions related to packaging, in 2023, as part of our new
sustainability strategy, Danone Impact Journey, the Group updated
and reaffirmed its commitment to:

B have 100% of its packaging to be reusable, recyclable, or
compostable by 2030;

B halve the use of virgin fossil-based packaging by 2040, with 30%
reduction by 2030, accelerating reuse and recycled materials;

B lead the development of effective collection systems to recover as
much plastic as the Group uses by 2040.

Danone shares its packaging vision and commitments with its
suppliers and business partners, asking them to align with its
approach to co-build a transparent circular economy. This approach is
integrated into the Danone Sustainability Principles (DSP) added to
contract clauses between Danone and its direct suppliers. To achieve
its objectives, Danone translates its commitments into action plans in
each country where it operates, following the waste hierarchy
principles underpinned in Ellen MacArthur Foundation New Plastics
Economy, the European Single Use Plastic Directive, and the upcoming
European Packaging and Packaging Waste Regulation (PPWR), through
3 overarching objectives:

B reduce plastic production;

B improve circulation of plastics that cannot be eliminated;

B recover what is not circulated, tackling leakage, and improving
livelihoods for waste pickers.

For more information on Danone’s packaging, its packaging policy and
targets, see section 5.3 Nature.
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Description

Management measures

m Fast changes in consumer preferences

The fast evolution of consumers’ preferences and habits requires
constant innovation and adaptation of Danone's product range and
overall supply chain. Purchases are more and more driven by the
diversification of tastes, eating and drinking habits as well as the
increasing health, social and environmental awareness, in a context
where pressure on purchasing power and increased polarization of the
world is driving increased scrutiny of consumers on the products they
buy.

Consumers seek products that:

B are of high nutritional quality, including presence or absence of
certain ingredients (for example sugar, protein, additives);

B enable packaging circularity (see packaging risk above);

B have a known social or environmental impact, with sustainable
sourcing of ingredients;

W are transparent on their origin, on their nutritional quality and, on
companies behind the brand (strong trend on local);

B are affordable.

Government authorities and retailers are also paying increasing
attention to health, social and environmental concerns of consumers,
principally on (i) health benefits including nutritional quality of products,
(i) local provenance, (iii) labeling of the nutritional quality and/or
environmental footprint of products and packaging, as well as (iv) food
waste.

If Danone is unable (i) to anticipate rapidly enough changes in
consumer expectations in terms of tastes, eating and drinking habits
and environmental impacts, (i) to identify such consumer trends, (iii) to
translate such trends into appropriate product offerings, (iv) to manage
pricing responsibly while maintaining high level of productivity in order
to limit the inflation passed to consumers and/or (v) to keep pace with
consumer preferences, the demand for the Group’s products and its
sales could fall, Danone could incur losses and its activities, results and
reputation could be negatively impacted.

Danone's unique frame of action One Planet One Health and its new
initiative for sustainable development through the Danone Impact
Journey have been defined to adequately respond to the challenges
and opportunities of the ongoing food revolution.

Moreover, Danone has developed a portfolio focused on healthy
Categories - 90.3% of the volumes sold in 2023. This distinctive
healthier portfolio has been recognized by the latest Access to
Nutrition global Index (ATNI), in which Danone was ranked first for the
sub-category on product profile and the only group of the list to
achieve the healthy threshold of 3.5 stars in Health Star Rating (HSR) at
portfolio level. On top, in line with its purpose as a Société a Mission,
Danone is engaged in an effort to continuously improve the nutritional
profile of its products (as defined in its published nutritional standards)
and with a specific attention on sugars. The Group also aims to better
inform consumers on product nutritional profiles by displaying
transparent and informative labelling, hence encouraging consumers
to make better choices. This is also part of its long-term Société a
Mission objectives.

Its Research and Innovation capabilities allow Danone to offer a wide
variety of products to respond to different diets, consumption needs
and situations. As an illustration, Danone has recently launched the
first ever hybrid dairy and plant-based baby milk formula, in response
to parents’ desire for vegetarian and flexitarian options for their baby.

In addition, Danone strives to foster ongoing dialogue with its
consumers by adapting to new consumer expectations and behaviors,
sharing more transparently in particular through digital communication
channels on its societal and environmental commitments (such as
circularity of packaging & regenerative agriculture).

Through its ambition towards the B Corp™ certification, Danone also
aims to develop brands with a positive impact, and commits to the
highest social and environmental standards.

For more information on product content and footprint, water
stewardship, plastic packaging and sustainable sourcing, see section
5.3 Nature, Policy.

For more information on the Danone initiative for sustainable
development Journey, see section 5.3 Nature, Identifying the risks
related to climate change.
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Description
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m Retail shift

After the new dynamics and channel shifts of the retail environment
fostered by Covid-19, inflation has further impacted shoppers' behaviors
with increased price sensitivity leading notably to:

B increase of private labels;

B focus on essential Categories;

B search for deals;

B fewer impulse purchases.

As a result, retail continues to undergo significant changes, notably
with:

B an acceleration of the growth of the discounters channel - especially
in Europe & the United States, as well as growth of convenience and
pharmacy channels;

B a deceleration but still dynamic growth of e-commerce post Covid.

In the inflationary context, Danone’s customers (retailers) are adapting
their value proposition and operating model:

B fighting for shoppers and generating traffic to their stores (special
attention on lower price points with private labels and value brands,
driving brand perception via promotions, pricing, and/or loyalty
programs);

B optimizing processes (including mutualizing purchases via alliances
& buying groups);

B generating new revenue streams (retail media, financial services, etc.);
B reducing stock levels to optimize cash.

As a consequence, Danone needs to adapt its value proposition to
consumers and ensure close cooperation with its customers to best
address the challenges raised by inflation. Otherwise, this could lead to
loss of market share, leading to slower growth, and deterioration of
operating margin, therefore, negatively impacting the financial situation
of Danone.

Danone's actions to adapt to the retail shifts include:

B Enhancing Consumer Value proposition through (i) evolving
portfolio to address price sensitivity (e.g. addition of entry packs in
relevant channels and categories); (i) segmenting pricing and
promotions (backed by upgraded tools and upskilling of teams); (iii)
enabling increased competitiveness of products (e.g., design to
superior value); (iv) enhancing brand equity and therefore
consumer willingness to pay via increased A&P behind its brands;

B Driving its commercial strategy, including:

e embedding sustainability / One Planet One Health agenda in
brands’ purpose as well as portfolio development and activation
strategies, enabling distinctive ways to bring value to customers
and shoppers,

e building a more granular understanding of shopper
expectations, with the aim to develop relevant commercial plans
(e.g. portfolio & activation) by key channel. This will help to
maximize the full potential of Danone core portfolio while
betting on fewer, bigger innovations, and activate Categories in
a more relevant manner,

e developing capabilities in all channels with an acceleration on
growing ones such as discounters, away-from-home and e-
commerce,

e implementing in-store and online execution excellence
programs (integrating the specificities of each channel &
category, focusing on levers with highest impact),

® progressing several supply chain initiatives, working closely with
large retailers, to optimize the flow of goods and inventory
levels of its customers with the Efficient Consumer Response
(ECR) approach. For example, Danone has implemented shared
inventory management systems with its leading distributors that
are used to coordinate inventory levels among stores, as well as
at the distributors and Danone’s warehouses,

e specific action plans to be relevant in the inflationary context,
such as (i) ensuring the relevance of portfolio to address price
sensitivity, (i) optimizing pricing and promotions (backed by
upgraded tools and upskilling of teams) based on external
public sources associated to shoppers, consumers & retailers
and (iii) working on competitiveness of products.
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Description

Management measures

m Raw materials and energy price volatility & availability

Overall, material costs (raw materials, packaging, energy, finished
products) represent around 80% of Danone's cost of goods sold, i.e.
around €10 billion on an annual basis.

Danone's raw materials can be broadly divided in two Categories: milk &
milk ingredients on the one hand and other food and ingredients
needed to produce food and beverage products on the other hand
(including soybean & nuts, fruits & vegetables, sugar & sweeteners, oils
& fats etc.).

Some of the key drivers of supply and demand imbalances are:

weather conditions and natural disasters;
government control and regulatory changes;
geopolitical events;

shifts in consumer preferences: e.g, increase in milk protein
demand in China can lead to price increase of milk powder supply.

Variations in supply and demand at global or regional levels expose
Danone to potential:

price increase for key raw materials that may not be passed on,
either in full or in part, in the selling price of Danone's products;

reduced availability of key raw materials which could adversely affect
Danone’s ability to meet consumer demand for its products;
disruption in supplier ecosystem especially in packaging and
logistics;

which could negatively impact the sales, margin and results of Danone.

In the current geopolitical context, energy prices face as well risks of
volatility globally, and some local availability risks, especially with gas
and electricity supply disruption risk potentially affecting operations of
certain factories of Danone in Europe, which could negatively impact
the sales, margin and results of Danone.

Danone's supply policy and exposure to principal raw materials risks,
including milk, are described in Note 7.7. to the consolidated financial
statements.

To ensure availability of raw materials and energy in a context where
supply chains remain under a high level of constraint, in the aftermath
of Covid-19 related disruptions and recent geopolitical evolutions,
Danone has engaged a program to further:

reduce single sourcing;

diversify its geographical sourcing.

To limit price volatility, Danone defines for each commodity and entity
a hedging strategy depending on the impact on its profit and loss, its
position in the market and the need for financial visibility.

In the context of high raw materials and energy prices volatility and in
order to limit its impact on Danone’s activity and results, the Group
manages this cost inflation through various actions such as:

reinforcement of real time visibility and business contingency plans;

simplification and review of specifications of raw materials
(ingredients, packaging) in design-to-cost and design-to-value
approaches;

adaptation of commercial negotiations processes (e.g. e-tendering);
hedging strategies and other measures to manage cost volatility, as
described in section 2.4 Other elements related to Danone's activity
and organization;

and regarding gas and electricity supply risk:

e permanent and temporary dual-energy sourcing measures for
high-risk countries & sites;

e improved energy efficiency (cutting energy consumption by 30%
by 2025), as per Danone Impact Journey commitments; and

e increased use of renewable energy - half of energy will come
from renewable sources by 2030.
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m Legal and Regulatory

As a player in the food and beverage industry active in many countries,
Danone operates its business in a complex, changing and increasingly
stringent regulatory environment.

Laws and regulations applicable to Danone activities include laws and
regulations governing notably dairy and plant based, water, infant milk
formulas and medical nutrition products, the protection of the
environment, sustainability claims, nutritional content of food products,
packaging, marketing practices, intellectual property, taxation,
international trade sanctions, integrity, human rights, data privacy and
antitrust.

For more information on the regulatory environment of the Group, see
section 2.4 Other elements related to Danone's activity and organization;

For example:

W in many countries, local consumer law restricts marketing practices
of products for babies and kids and/or enforce strict registration
regulations for these products. For example, in China, regulations
require infant milk formula recipes to be registered by a public
authority (SAMR) before they can be sold on the market and since
2018, overseas factory audit has been required prior to the
registration of infant milk formula;

B in many countries, local laws regulate the conditions of water
extraction/bottling rights, which may include the granting of
administrative authorizations;

B Danone's production sites are subject to strict environmental
regulations and standards on energy use, water use and waste
management;

Changes in applicable laws and regulations, more stringent evolution,
or toughening of their application could (i) limit Danone's ability to
pursue or develop its business activities, thus requiring Danone to
adapt or reduce its activities, assets, or strategy (including its
geographical presence), (i) expose Danone to incur additional
constraints, costs or investments, and/or (i) possibly result in litigations.
This could lead to significant adverse effects on the sales, margin, and
financial position of Danone.

Danone is involved and could be involved in litigations associated with
its normal course of business, including (and not limited to) with respect
to advertising and marketing practices, products, and labels, antitrust,
sustainability and tax, which could adversely affect Danone’s financial
situation, profitability, and reputation. Danone’s exposure to actual or
potential material litigations is presented in Note 16.4. to the
consolidated financial statements.

Danone has developed a General Secretary organization including
Legal, Regulatory Affairs and Compliance departments, at the local and
central levels. The Group and its subsidiaries, assisted by their General
Counsel departments and/or external legal advisors, take steps to
ensure that they comply with applicable laws and regulations, request
administrative authorizations, when necessary, identify any new
applicable regulations and monitor claims, litigations, and legal
proceedings.

In addition, Danone has developed and implemented internal policies
and procedures relating to compliance. In order to ensure that such
measures are commonly practiced at Danone, the Group has
integrated compliance into its internal control system, including in its
internal control framework (for more details, see section 2.7 Control
Environment).
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Description
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m Impact of climate change on value chain

The climate risk is present in several of Danone's risks described in this
section: two strategic risks (Packaging and Fast changes in consumer
preferences), and two external environment risks (Legal & Regulatory
and Raw materials and energy price volatility & availability). In addition,
on the operational side, as Danone's businesses are directly related to
nature and agriculture, its value chain can be impacted by climate
change and its consequences on soil, biodiversity, and ecosystems and
on the consequences of shifts or disruptions in availability, quality and
prices of raw materials and ingredients used.

Climate change also affects water availability which can impact Danone’s
operations as well as subsidiaries’ relationships with local stakeholders.

The transition towards regenerative agricultural practices, efforts to
maintain ingredients’ availability as well as the climate efficiency of
operations are key to adapt Danone’s business model to this environ-
mental change building resilience, efficiency and consumer preference.

Overall, Danone considers this risk as low in the short term but high in
the long term.

Danone is monitoring its full scope carbon footprint as a foundation
for its 3-pillars strategy based on: (i) reduction of carbon emissions, (ii)
fostering soil carbon sequestration and (iii) compensation of the
remaining emissions through carbon positive actions.

Danone has been part of the working group led by the Science-Based
Targets initiative (SBTi) to define 1.5°C pathways for the Forest, Land
and Agriculture (FLAG) sectors which resulted in the launch of the first
global standard for companies in land-intensive sectors on September
28,2022.

The Science-Based Targets Initiative validated in December 2022,
Danone’s new near-term 1.5°C science-based targets on scopes 1, 2
and 3 including FLAG.

In December 2023, Danone has replaced its Climate Policy (2016) by
the Climate Transition Plan, updating its climate roadmap to match its
1.5°C ambition. This plan is instrumental in helping Danone meet its
2030 targets. It offers an overview of the work the Group will continue
to develop over the coming years, with a commitment to regular
updates.

For more information on water stewardship and sustainable
agriculture, particularly regenerative (including organic) agriculture, as
well as on Danone's commitments towards carbon neutrality and
elimination of deforestation as well as action plans, see section 5.3
Nature.
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m Currency volatility

Most of Danone’s subsidiaries operate locally and therefore in the
currency of their country. However, the location of certain production
units or central, regional or transactional services may result in inter-
company billings in foreign currencies. In addition, some of Danone's
raw materials are billed or sometimes indexed in foreign currencies.
Lastly, Danone also develops export activities.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates against the functional currency
of some subsidiaries may impact their sales and operating margin. A
significant or prolonged drop in their currency, lower availability of
hedges for the currency or an increase in their cost can also negatively
impact the competitiveness, profitability and results of some
subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2023, the main currencies exposed to transactional

currency risk were Chinese yuan, the British pound, the Mexican peso,
the Canadian dollar, the Indonesian rupiah and the US dollar.

Information regarding operational currency risk is presented in Note
14.3. to the consolidated financial statements.

Danone's policy, enforced by Corporate Treasury Department, consists
of (i) minimizing and managing the impact of exposure of transactional
risk on its results, (i) monitoring and managing it centrally, (iii)
whenever allowed by the regulatory and monetary frameworks,
executing financial transactions centrally and when not allowed,
executing locally, and (iv) using derivative instruments only for the
purpose of economic hedging.

Danone hedges its highly probable commercial transactions so that, as
of December 31, its residual exposure of the following fiscal year is
significantly reduced.
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m Sanitary crisis

While the spread of the the Covid-19 has remained controlled in 2023,
Danone, as a global Group, remains exposed to sanitary crises and
epidemics.

A new sanitary crisis outbreak could mean:

B return to low mobility levels, resulting in less revenue from sales
done in impulse channels;

B border closures and travel restrictions, impacting sales of Waters in
touristic and travel channels;

B impact on consumers’ income and purchasing power leading to
trading down buying behaviors;

and therefore, a decline in sales and profitability of Danone.

Building on Covid-19 crisis learnings, Danone's actions to adapt to
sanitary crises include:

B greater empowerment of local teams allowing them to take agile
decisions to ensure business continuity and product availability:
portfolio adaptation (refocused range) and supply chain
management (supplier duplication, alternative transportation) to
notably focus available production capacities on the most relevant
formats and channels;

B pro-active management of workforce and ways of working to
ensure employees' health and security, but also to adapt to sharp
swings in demand;

B monitoring of employees’ morale and energy level through a
strengthening of the health programs and regular surveys leading
to agile decision-making, for example on remote working
conditions.
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Description

Management measures

m Cybersecurity

Danone’s success depends on continuous, uninterrupted availability of
its information technology systems, notably to process transactions and
to manage stocks, purchases and deliveries of its products. In a fast-
evolving environment, Danone needs to evolve towards a data enabled
organization in order to reach customers more rapidly with products
and services adapted to their needs.

In this context, Danone factories are also becoming more digitized, and
therefore the cyber risk is increasing. The frequency and sophistication
of cyberattacks & other data breaches are increasing and may result in
an increase of Danone’s exposure to risks such as:

B hacking of physical facilities (plants, security systems, electric doors
etc.),

B leakage of the Group's confidential data;
B cyber fraud & ransomware attacks.

Remote and hybrid working still prevails and the risk associated with
increased connectivity and digitalization very much remains.

Geopolitical tensions have shown that hybrid warfare is the new reality
and that cybersecurity and geopolitics have close links. At the same
time a more stringent regulatory compliance landscape is emerging for
cybersecurity such as the NIS2 directive, for which the member states
must adopt and publish the measures necessary to comply for
organizations by October 2024.

Any breach of IT security resulting in low/reduced data integrity, system
failure, loss of data, proprietary or otherwise, may result in high costs
and/or multiple impacts for Danone and its subsidiaries, including
disruption of production and sales, inaccurate financial reporting, theft
of strategic data, regulatory fines, and reputational damages with
stakeholders, ultimately impacting Danone’s financial results.

Danone is executing an integrated global cyber security strategy
covering both IT and Operational Technology. Action plans focus on
tackling possible identified weaknesses and improve security systems
and processes regarding ‘“identify, protect, detect, respond and
recover” elements, safeguarding against cyberattacks. Danone
continues to align the cybersecurity controls to the U.S. Commerce
Department's National Institute of Standards and Technology's (NIST)
industry framework to structure these efforts.

Danone is accelerating its efforts in cyber risk mitigation and investing
significantly through a multi-year transformation program:

B an appropriate cybersecurity organization has been established,
including governance. Danone is building out capabilities through a
multiyear Cybersecurity Transformation Program, the progress of
which is reviewed annually by an external party;

B the Group Cyber Risk Policy Framework continues to be updated to
define the ways of working that are supported by the leadership
and continues to be communicated to the whole organization,
supported by training and awareness;

B end-user awareness is underpinned by mandatory training of
Danone employees to create a global cybersecurity culture;

B Danone keeps increasing cyber security capabilities to protect the
Group against information technology and industrial site attacks
with:
® a 24/7 Security Operations Center for IT and Industrial to

continue to protect Danone and ensure timely detection and
response to incidents,

e risk assessment of key technology implementation projects and
improving security protection of key infrastructure,

e focus on mitigating supply chain cybersecurity risks,
e visibility of threats and management of vulnerabilities.
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Description

Management measures

m Food safety & product quality issues

Because of its activities, Danone is exposed to the risk (genuine or
merely perceived or alleged) of products being contaminated and
unsafe for consumers or patients, potentially leading to a sanitary crisis.

This food safety risk may arise through the actual or alleged existence
of hazards in raw materials, packaging, or final products (chemical and
microbiological contaminants, foreign bodies, or allergens), that could
potentially occur all along the value chain, from suppliers to consumers.

Because food science, regulations and analytical methods are evolving
very quickly and because media cover can exacerbate some issues, the
number of topics that may trigger food safety controversies and may be
directly associated to Danone’s brands is rising.

The materialization of the risks described above may lead to a decrease
in the Group's sales, significant recall costs, as well as individual or
collective claims, fines and/or judicial decisions, which may negatively
impact its reputation, consumers' trust, products demand, and
preference.

Recurrent contaminations of food products and their impact on
consumers and business performance regularly show the importance
of food safety and quality for all Food Business operators.

Danone has the duty to ensure all its stakeholders trust its products.
To honor this commitment, the Group sustainably engage all its teams,
as well its suppliers and partners.

On a day-to-day basis, Danone designs, sources, manufactures and
delivers products that meet regulatory requirements and the highest
quality and food safety standards.

To fulfil its mission and respect its commitments, Danone ensures the
following:

B maintain and deploy a Quality Management System based on the
highest international (ISO, GFSI, etc.) and internal standards to
guarantee application of a single benchmark for all Danone
products and technologies, wherever they are sold or produced,
with an obsession of continuous improvement thanks to robust
internal/external audit programs;

B maintain scientific capabilities at the leading edge, leveraging
internal expertise as well as external connections and partnerships;

B apply efficient processes to anticipate, assess and manage risks
(trends analysis, identification of emerging/evolving risks and
management of non-conformities with avoidance of reoccurrence);

B apply robust analytical governance and develop capabilities for
internal and external laboratories;

B develop excellence programs (e.g., with raw materials and

packaging suppliers);
B develop and spread a culture of quality across the organization.

For more information on Danone's food safety policy, see section 5.2
Health through food, Ensuring quality and food safety.
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Description

Management measures

m Shortage of talent

In 2023, Danone employed nearly 100,000 employees in over 55
countries with an overall turnover of 19%. The availability, quality, and
engagement of Danone's people, as well as their adaptation to fast-
moving environments, play an essential role in Danone’s success.

Danone’s ability to attract and retain employees with the necessary skills
or talents is critical for success. This is especially true in certain of
Danone's principal markets and in emerging countries or in specific
capabilities (for example linked to data/digital), and in the context of
Danone's engagement in a strong transformation journey.

If the Group is unable to retain or attract talents, it could affect its
competitiveness, ability to transform and therefore its results.

Danone relies on its human resources strategy to attract and retain
talents, which revolves around four main axes: (i) employees
continuous learning and development, (i) inclusive diversity, (iii) social
dialogue and (iv) health, safety and well-being of employees.

Danone is launching several initiatives in 2023 to further strengthen its
employee value proposition, for example a new learning strategy, a
holistic health and well-being program, a refreshed people
conversation cycle and multiple digital tools to improve the employee
experience such as a new applicant system that enhances the
experience of the applicants.

All these initiatives support Danone’s unique culture and are aligned
with the HOPE values (Humanism, Openness, Proximity and
Enthusiasm) which Danone recognizes as powerful retention levers as
well as important assets to attract talent externally.

In addition, a new set of leadership behaviors (called Danone
Behaviors) has been launched this year taking into account the
feedback provided by over 60,000 Danoners. A comprehensive change
management plan has been put in place, including a 1.5-day training
for all executives and directors and an engaging e-learning that has
already been taken by 20,000 employees.

For more information on Danone’s values and Human Resources
policies, see section 5.4 People & Communities, Danone's employees.
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Description

Management measures

m Business Transformations

Danone is now well advanced in the process of its ambitious
transformation journey, including a new organization, transformation of
its operations notably through end-to-end integrated approaches, and
a digital & data agenda. The objective is to position Danone in line with
new market and operating trends, prompted by consumer preferences
and competitive dynamics.

These transformations, however, could come with some adverse effects,
on Danone’s results and financial situation, for example:

W if the transformation creates severe business disruptions, social
tensions, or insufficient focus from Danone’s management and staff
on operational & delivery priorities;

W if the Group does not succeed in delivering these transformations
efficiently and at the right pace, or in achieving the expected
benefits.

Danone has a global and regional transformation governance, under
the steer of COMEX members, ensuring (i) the implementation with the
right prioritization, (ii) the appropriate tracking of delivery on business
cases and the relevant pace of change, as well as (iii) transformation
processes and means.

This governance notably includes:

B two specific transformation offices, respectively in charge of the
execution of the Finance & Operations transformation and of the IT
& Data transformation;

B 2 tightened governance for CapEx authorization with a CapEx
committee, allocating annual budgets according to business cases
and monitoring returns at different stage gates.
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2.7 Control Environment

2.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

Danone's risk identification and management system is organized
around complementary processes:

identification and management of strategic risks, as well as
coordination of risk mapping and monitoring of the risk universe,
led by the Strategic Planning Department (see section 2.6 Risk
factors);

identification and management of operational risks related to the
Sales, Purchasing, Operations, Human Resources, Finance,
Information Systems and General Secretary functions, under the
responsibility and monitoring of the Internal Control Department
(see section Internal control below);

identification and management of risks related to the preparation
and processing of financial and accounting information (see
section Financial and accounting information below);

identification and management of risks related to (i) corruption,
(i) anti-competitive practices, and (i) non-compliance with
personal data protection laws and international laws on trade

sanctions, under the responsibility of the Compliance Department
through the preparation and coordination of a Compliance
Program (see section 5.1 Introduction);

B other processes such as:

e the development of procedures regarding competitive
intelligence, training, prevention and protection, as well as the
initiatives taken in this area by specialized departments such as
the Sustainability Strategy, Water and Biodiversity Department
and the Food Quality and Safety Department,

e the Security Department's contribution to the identification of
threats against Danone’s employees and assets,

* identification of potential crises by the Crisis Management
Department and preparation by the affected entities based on
the mapping created for each geographical zone,

e short decision-making channels and input from the operating
units in strategic discussions to facilitate risk reporting.

ORGANIZATION OF THE FINANCE FUNCTION

In 2023, the Finance function is organized around:

B central functional departments:

Corporate Finance, Control and Finance Digital Transformation
to which the following departments report: (i) Treasury and
Financing; (ii) Tax; (iii) Insurance; (iv) Consolidation, Reporting &
Standards; (v) Internal Control and (vi) Internal Audit,

Performance Planning and Management to which the
(i) Controlling and (i) Methods and Business Intelligence
departments report,

Strategy,
Mergers & Acquisitions,
Financial Communication,

Sustainable Finance;
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B transactional functions (accounting, treasury, etc) and certain
expertise functions organized by country or group of countries
(Danone Business Services), which are themselves grouped by
continent or subcontinent;

W operational finance departments for the geographical zones and
key operating activities, responsible for managing and steering the
business. Each geographical zone has an operational finance
department, which is itself organized by region, with one unit per
country or group of countries (Country Business Unit).
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2.7 Control Environment

Internal control objectives

Internal control is implemented by Danone's General Management,
managers and operational teams with the primary aim of ensuring:

B the proper functioning of Danone’s internal processes, particularly
those related to safeguarding assets and the anti-corruption
procedure introduced by France's Sapin II law;

B compliance with applicable laws and regulations;
B the reliability of financial information.

In 2023, Danone continued to roll out data analysis tools to its
operating subsidiaries.

Key internal control stakeholders
General Management

General Management is responsible for Danone's internal control
system with support from the Group Finance Department, while the
Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of
Danone's internal control and risk management systems (see
section 6.1 Governance bodies).

Internal Control central Department

The Internal Control and Internal Audit teams form part of the same
department but have distinct roles, ensuring that the two functions
remain independent. They report to the Corporate Finance, Control
and Data & Tech Department.

The Internal Control Department’s main functions include:

B updating the internal control approach, including the DANgo
framework, as well as the use of data analytics;

B defining internal control priorities and presenting the results within
Danone;

B supporting and overseeing the international network of internal
controllers through coordination, communication and training
initiatives alongside Danone Business Services.

Network of local internal controllers

At Danone, internal control is carried out by a network of local internal
controllers who generally report to the Danone Business Services
finance directors. Their main functions are:

W testing control points to assess internal control and documenting
this work, based on instructions issued by the Internal Control
Department;

B presenting internal control results to subsidiaries’ management
committees and monitoring action plans;

B actively contributing to all transformation projects to ensure
internal control and risk management are taken into account;

B and, more generally, coordinating the internal control system with
regard to all stakeholders.

Internal control system
Framework: DANgo

The internal control framework used by Danone is DANgo (Danone
Governing and Operating Processes), built in 2006 and completely
updated in 2019. It covers the following operating processes: Sales,
Purchasing, Operations, Human Resources, Finance, Information
Systems and General Secretary and includes a Control Environment
section. All these processes are broken down into 61 risk areas
covered by 106 internal control points (Danone Internal Control
Evaluations). For each risk area, the framework specifies the potential
impacts for Danone: reputational harm, errors in the financial
statements, financial losses, disruptions in operating activities and
fraud.

Scope

Danone's internal control
consolidated subsidiaries.

framework applies to all the fully

Assessment scope

The depth of internal control at each subsidiary is based on the
subsidiary's size and risk level.

Assessment methodology

Internal control assessments are based on the testing of control points
by local internal controllers, rather than on self-assessment
questionnaires. Since the control framework is centered around risk
management, the local internal controllers assess the degree of
exposure to these risks for each of the control points within the
assessment scope. The procedures for testing and assessing degrees
of risk exposure are set out in guidelines and specific instructions
issued by the Internal Control Department. In addition, this
assessment by the subsidiaries is subject to regular internal audits (see
below).

Reporting on assessments

The results of the internal control assessments conducted at each
subsidiary are reported to the Internal Control Department in July and
January each year through a tool used by all subsidiaries, along with an
action plan for each control point (see section Review of assessments
below).
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Assessment of internal control
by the Internal Audit Department

The Internal Audit Department conducts audits according to a risk-
based approach to ensure the quality of the DANgo assessment
carried out by the subsidiaries. In light of heightened compliance
requirements, these audits are used to periodically identify any
discrepancies between central assessments and those carried out by
subsidiaries, which are then reported to the management of the
geographical zones and key functions. In 2023, the Internal Audit
Department conducted 29 internal audits at subsidiaries or cross-
company functions, based on the plan approved by the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit teams carry out all their audits using a
data extraction and analysis tool that enables them to apply a risk-
based approach. At the end of 2023, Danone's Internal Audit
Department had its external certification renewed by France's
independent body IFACI (Institut Francais de ['Audit et du Controle
Internes), following a second follow-up audit.

Following each internal audit, the management of each subsidiary
devises an action plan to correct any weaknesses identified in the
internal audit report. The implementation of these action plans is
monitored by the operational and functional managers, under the
supervision of the Internal Audit Department. In 2023, two follow-up
audits were conducted in order to monitor action plans launched in
2022 and specific reporting was carried out for all other matters.

The Treasury and Financing, Tax and Insurance, Data & Tech,
Sustainability, Legal/Compliance, Food Safety, Quality, Industrial, Safety,
Organization, Human Resources and Crisis Management departments
arrange audits and periodic inspections at the subsidiary level, in
addition to the general internal audits.

Internal Control monitoring
Monitoring of indicators

The main indicators monitored by the Internal Control Department are
high-risk control points.
Annual objectives

Each year, Danone sets internal control priorities (the subsidiaries and
operational risks that will take priority), which are approved by General
Management and the Audit Committee.
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Review of assessments

Internal control assessments are reviewed at all levels of Danone's
organization. The internal control results are first presented to each
subsidiary's management committee, which reviews areas of
vulnerability, discusses their severity, sets the level of priority and
monitors the implementation of action plans.

The internal control results are also presented individually to each of
the senior executives of the operating processes covered by DANgo
and to the senior executives of the Finance function. Lastly, the Audit
Committee and General Management are informed at least twice a
year of the status of the subsidiary assessment processes, the results
thereof and the actions being taken to improve the effectiveness of the
internal control system.

Communication and coordination
Dedicated platforms

An electronic version of the DANgo framework, with a link to Danone'’s
policies and guidelines, is available to all stakeholders. In addition to
DANgo, all internal control methodology (instructions, test scripts,
methodology guides) is available on Danone’s intranet for internal
controllers. The community of internal controllers also share internal
control information and best practices on Danone’s social network.

Coordination of the community of local internal
controllers

The Internal Control Department oversees, trains and coordinates the
network of internal controllers as a whole but also by region and by
operational process to ensure that key messages and best practices
are shared effectively. It also organizes an annual workshop attended
by the key local internal controllers from each of the Danone Business
Services (see section financial and accounting information below) as
well as special training sessions on relevant topics such as integrity,
sustainability and the use of data analytics.
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FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

Production of financial and accounting
information

The Finance function is responsible for organizing the production
process for Danone'’s financial and accounting information based on
the following pillars:

B maintenance and coordination of single sets of finance and internal
control guidelines, accessible to all Finance function employees via
(i) the central tool containing the Finance function’s main
organizational principles and processes and Danone's accounting
principles and procedures, which are consistent with its internal
control principles, and (i) the DANgo framework (see section
Internal control above);

B definition of the roles and skills required at the various levels of the
finance function;

B development and delivery of internal training programs, meetings
to share information and best practices attended regularly by the
main finance managers (particularly from Danone Business Services
and corporate functions) and organization of regular training
sessions on specific accounting topics;

B information sharing: each quarter, all members of the finance
function are given access to a website where the Chief Financial
Officer comments on the Group's quarterly activity, year-to-date
financial results and main challenges.

Financial planning process

Financial information is prepared using a rigorous and comprehensive
financial planning process that includes:

W financial indicators used to monitor performance. These indicators
are reviewed regularly to ensure their relevance;

B a three-year strategic plan specifying key financial targets for each
year;

B rolling 12-month forecasts performed quarterly for all financial
indicators and monthly for certain indicators;

B monthly reports;

B monthly performance review meetings attended by the finance
teams and the general managers of the geographical zones;

W quarterly strategy monitoring meetings involving the finance teams
and general managers of the geographical zones.

The overall financial planning process is overseen by the Controlling
Department, while the geographical zones' finance departments are
responsible for monitoring performance, capital expenditure and
operating cash flow. Members of the corporate functions visit the
operating units on a regular basis to monitor performance, review
procedures, hold pre-closing meetings, conduct ad hoc audits, review
progress on internal control improvement plans, follow up on action
plans and give training in accounting standards.

Financial and accounting information
production processes

Financial and accounting information is produced according to the
control practices and procedures defined in the DANgo framework,
which sets out a large number of controls relating to the quality of
financial and accounting information.

Each operating unit prepares a detailed monthly financial report and
an exhaustive half-yearly consolidation package for the consolidated
financial statements. The Country Business Units and Danone Business
Services are jointly responsible for the production and content of their
financial statements and the related internal control. Written
confirmation of compliance with Danone’s procedures and with
financial reporting standards is sent twice a year to the central teams
of the general manager and finance director of each subsidiary, and
those of the finance director of the relevant Danone Business Service,
in the form of a representation letter regarding the interim and annual
financial accounts closing process, including all aspects of risk
management, internal control and corporate law.

The Consolidation, Reporting & Standards Department is responsible
for consolidating the reports and consolidation packages, posting
elimination and consolidation entries, and conducting the following key
control stages:

B validation, throughout the year, of the main accounting options
adopted by the subsidiaries and corporate functions and simulation
of complex transactions in the consolidation software;

B in-depth review of certain subsidiaries’ monthly reports at the end
of May and November (known as the "hard-close" procedure) based
on the specific risks and transactions identified for preparing the
interim and annual consolidated financial statements, respectively;

B (i) preparatory meetings with the finance teams of the main
subsidiaries and the relevant Danone Business Service based on
the specific transactions and risks identified; and (i) presentation to
the Audit Committee of specific transactions that took place during
the period, the main accounting options adopted and the potential
significant developments introduced by changes to IFRS (see
section 6.1 Governance bodies);

B during the accounts closing process: analysis and validation of the
most material line items of the consolidated financial statements
(intangible assets, income tax, equity, provisions, liabilities, etc.).

Control activities are therefore conducted at all of the Group's
hierarchical and functional levels and include a variety of actions such
as approving and authorizing, verifying and reconciling, assessing
operating performance, ensuring the safeguarding of assets and
monitoring the segregation of duties. The audits conducted
independently by the Internal Audit Department provide appropriate
oversight. In particular, the internal audits conducted within the
Country Business Units and Danone Business Services are aimed
primarily at verifying the quality of accounting and financial
information. Lastly, detailed audits are conducted on the key controls
used in the preparation of financial information (particularly published
disclosures) at the subsidiaries and at Danone’s head office and on
their effective application.

These activities, which are intended to control the accounting and
financial information provided by the consolidated subsidiaries, as well
as the internal control procedures used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements, are appropriate to ensure the reliability of
accounting and financial information.
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Management of risks related to the preparation
and processing of financial and accounting
information

When these risks are identified, Danone monitors and manages them
as follows:

B the geographical zones' finance departments ensure that the action
plans established subsequent to internal and/or external audits and
work on key controls have been implemented correctly. Each
geographical zone's finance director and each function manager is
responsible for improving the system for preparing and processing
financial information;

B the risks identified in the results obtained from the annual
assessment of internal control (DANgo) and internal audits are
subject to specific monitoring;

M in addition, the main identified risks are monitored during the
strategic planning and performance monitoring processes, during
the regular meetings mainly attended by the finance functions (and
during the meetings of the Risks Executive Committee and the
Executive Committee);

B the internal control system is adapted according to the risks
identified.
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Financial and accounting information
production systems

SAP/Themis integrated information system

The management and optimization of information flows for the
financial functions as well as the purchasing, industrial, quality, supply
chain and sales functions, both within the subsidiaries and between
them, is performed primarily through the SAP/Themis integrated
information system. This application is steadily being rolled out at the
subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2023, the activities supported by
Themis accounted for 89% of Danone consolidated Sales.

Consolidation and reporting software

Monthly financial reports and, more generally, the financial information
used to manage and control the operating units' activities are
produced by a unified information system (SAP/Business Objects
Financial Consolidation). This system is also used to produce the
interim and annual consolidated financial statements. The procedures
related to the security, use and development of new features of this
consolidation system are carefully documented.
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2.8 Insurance and risk coverage

EXJ INSURANCE AND RISK COVERAGE

For risks other than those relating to the financial market, Danone has
taken out a global insurance coverage policy that is based on stringent
risk assessments and uses insurance products from worldwide
markets, depending on availability and local regulations. This risk
coverage is therefore consistent for all entities over which Danone has
operational control.

Insurance programs for property damage, business interruption and
commercial general liability risk are negotiated at Group level for all
subsidiaries, with leading international insurers. The policies are "all
risks" and based on the broadest guarantees available on the market.
Deductibles vary but are relatively low compared to those extended to
groups of comparable size to reflect the autonomous management of
the subsidiaries. The guarantee limits are set on the basis of worst-
case scenarios and on insurance market capacity. These programs
were renewed on January 1, 2022 for a term of two years and
represented a total cost of €40 million in 2023. The increase in the
premium mainly reflects an increase in the amounts insured and
inflation.

Insurance programs for “traditional” risks, which need to be managed
locally, such as coverage for vehicle fleets, guarantees for the
transportation of goods, occupational accidents (in countries in which
these accidents are covered by private insurance) and some country-
specific insurance programs, are negotiated and managed in
accordance with local practices and regulations, within the framework
of specific guidelines provided and controlled by the Group. Total
premiums came to approximately €22 million in 2023.

Lastly, insurance programs for potentially significant special risks,
which need to be managed centrally, such as corporate officer liability,
fraud, and other risks (product recalls, credit risk, environmental risk
and cyber risk) are negotiated according to market capacity, based on
scenarios estimating the probable impact of any claims. The total cost
of this category of coverage amounted to €4 million in 2023.

In addition, in order to optimize its insurance costs and properly
control its risks, Danone has taken out a self-insurance policy through
its captive reinsurance subsidiary Danone Ré (a fully consolidated
entity). The self-insurance policy applies to specific risks where the
costs can be accurately estimated, as Danone is aware of their
frequency and financial impact. This mainly concerns (i) coverage of
property damage, business interruption and commercial general
liability for a large majority of Danone’s companies (these self-
insurance programs are limited to frequent claims with a maximum of
€7.5 million per claim for property damage and business interruption
risks and a maximum limit of €5 million per claim for commercial
general liability risks) as well as some transportation risks; and (ii) for
the French subsidiaries, payouts for death, long-term disability, and
education. Stop-loss insurance protects Danone Ré against any
increased frequency of claims. These self-insurance programs are
managed by professional insurers under Danone's supervision and
reserves are determined by independent actuaries.
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024
3.1 Business highlights in 2023

Danone's consolidated financial statements and the Notes to the consolidated financial statements are presented in section 4.1 Consolidated financial
statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements. Risk identification and control policy, as well as strategic, external environmental and
operational risks are described in section 2.6 Risk factors.

Amounts are expressed in millions of euros and rounded to the nearest million. Generally speaking, the values presented are rounded to the nearest unit.
Consequently, the sum of the rounded amounts may differ, albeit to an insignificant extent, from the reported total. In addition, ratios and variances are

calculated based on the underlying amounts and not on the rounded amounts.

Danone reports on financial indicators not defined by IFRS, internally (among indicators used by the chief operating decision makers) and externally.
These indicators are defined in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined in IFRS:

like-for-like changes on sales;

margin from operations;

recurring operating income;
recurring operating margin;

other non-recurring financial income and expense;
non-recurring income tax;

recurring effective tax rate;
non-recurring results from associates;
recurring net income;

recurring EPS;

free cash flow;

net financial debt;

net debt / EBITDA ratio and ROIC.

Danone also uses references that are defined in section 1.2 Information about the Universal Registration Document.

XN BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2023 (AS DETAILED IN THE MAIN PRESS RELEASES ISSUED
RELATING TO FISCAL YEAR 2023)

On January 18, 2023, Danone announced the strengthening of its
governance in order to sharpen the delivery of its Renew Danone
strategy. The changes made took effect from February 1, 2023, and
the new organizational structure is reflected in the Group's interim
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023;

On February 6, 2023, Danone inaugurated its new international
Daniel Carasso Research & Innovation Center on Paris-Saclay to
accelerate research on the future of nutrition. This research center
is dedicated to the development and innovation of Danone'’s “fresh
dairy and plant-based products” and “natural mineral water”. In line
with Danone’s One Planet, One Health vision, this B Corp™ labeled
facility has been designed to limit its impact on the environment,
making it the first-ever European research center to hold the low
carbon label;

On February 22, 2023, Danone reframed its sustainability journey,
through the Danone Impact Journey, articulated around 3 pillars:
Health, Nature and People & communities. For each pillar, Danone
defines a new set of priorities which are translated into mid to long-
term objectives, focusing on where the company can deliver the
most value with and through our ecosystem of partners;

On May 15, 2023, Danone successfully issued a €800 million bond
with a 8-year maturity and a 3.47% coupon. The settlement took
place on May 22, 2023, and the bonds are listed on Euronext Paris;

On July 16, 2023, Danone has taken note of the decision of the
Russian authorities aiming at placing Danone Russia under the
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temporary external administration of the Russian federal agency
Rosimushchestvo. On July 18, 2023, the Russian authorities
indicated that the board of Directors and CEO of Danone Russia
(EDP) had been changed. These changes took place without the
knowledge of, or approval by, Danone. As a consequence, Danone
no longer retains control of its EDP operations in Russia, although it
remains their legal owner. Danone has reflected the accounting
impacts of the lack of control over the EDP business in the 2023
consolidated financial statements, see Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements;

On November 6, 2023, Danone successfully issued a €800 million
bond with a 6-year maturity and a 3.706% coupon.The settlement
took place on November 13, 2023, and the bonds are listed on
Euronext Paris;

On December 20, 2023, Danone published its Climate Transition
Plan, detailing its roadmap to reach its 2030 1.5°C science-based
targets and setting its pathway to achieve Net-Zero emissions by
2050 across its entire value chain;

On January 2, 2024, Danone announced it has signed an agreement
to sell its premium organic dairy activity in the U.S. to Platinum
Equity, a US-based investment firm. The sale is part of Danone's
portfolio review and asset rotation program the company
announced in March 2022, as part of its “Renew Danone” strategy;
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B On February 6, 2024, Danone has been recognized, for the fifth

year in a row, for leadership in corporate transparency and
performance in climate change, forests, and water security by
global environmental non-profit organization CDP. Out of the

OTHER ACTIVITIES IN 2023

3.1 Business highlights in 2023

21,000 companies scored in 2023, Danone is one of the only 10
companies that achieved a place on the A List for the three
environmental areas covered by CDP: climate change, forest
preservation and water security.

Acquisitions, disposal of shares in companies in fully consolidated companies

2023 fiscal year
Ownership interest as of December 31
(%) Zone (Country) Category Transaction date @ 2022 m
MAIN COMPANIES CONSOLIDATED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN 2023
Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. CNAO (China) Specialized Nutrition March - 100.0%
Centrum Medyczne Promedica Spolka Cywilna
Piotr Compala, Halina Compala-Kusnierz Europe (Poland)  Specialized Nutrition March - 100.0%
MAIN CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES IN WHICH THE GROUP'S OWNERSHIP INTEREST HAS CHANGED
North America
Harmless Harvest (United States) Waters March 51.0% 100.0%
Hunan Eurbest Nutritional Food CNAO (China)  Specialized Nutrition August 96.5% 100.0%
MAIN COMPANIES NO LONGER FULLY CONSOLIDATED AS OF DECEMBER 31
Rest of the World
JSC Danone Russia ® (Russia) EDP July 100.0% 100.0%

(a) Month in the 2023 fiscal year.

(b) Related to EDP Russia following deconsolidation on July 16, 2023 (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements).

On December 6, 2023, Danone announced its intention to sell the French company Michel et Augustin. The company had been fully consolidated in
Danone's financial statements since April 1, 2019. The associated assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for sale as of December 31, 2023, in

accordance with IFRS 5.

Main changes in investments in associates
2023 fiscal year

No material transactions affecting investments in equity-accounted companies were carried out in full-year 2023.

2023 sustainability footprint
2023 environmental footprint

See section 5.3 Nature.

Inclusive diversity and B Corp™ performance

See sections 5.1 Introduction and 5.4 People & Communities.

Research and Innovation
Product Superiority Program acceleration

B Over the past 18 months, Danone has set up a task force and has
accelerated its superiority program across all regions and
Categories. Danone has doubled the number of consumer tests
from 74 in 2021, 150 in 2022 and reached 264 in 2023. Today, a
majority of Danone’s top Stock Keeping Units (SKUs) have superior

scores compared to competition (blind test methodology).

Governance and financial statements

See sections 6.1 Governance bodies, 6.2 Positions and Responsibilities
of the Directors, and 3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review.

B Design to Superior Value program (DTSV) stands for “design review

to improve value”, is a holistic and global methodology to support
consumer centric led renovations. This methodology is used now in
several geographies and categories. It aims at maintaining the key
product and packaging attributes which are valued by the users
while improving the costs all along the product life cycle
management.
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3.1 Business highlights in 2023

Inauguration of new international
Daniel Carasso Research & Innovation center on
Paris-Saclay

On February 6, 2023, Danone inaugurated its new international Daniel
Carasso Research & Innovation Center on Paris-Saclay to accelerate
research on the future of nutrition. This research center dedicated to
the development and innovation of Danone's “fresh dairy and plant-
based products” and “natural mineral water” focuses its research on
five main areas:

B consumers and patients: to continue to provide innovative solutions
that meet needs and uses throughout life;

B a3 product portfolio focused on health and taste: to promote a
varied, tasty, high-quality diet for all ages;

B science and technology: to advance research on nutrition,
hydration, immunity, microbiota, fermentation, animal and plant
proteins;

B tomorrow's packaging: to develop suitable packaging that
guarantees food safety and meets the major environmental
challenges of our industry;

B digital and data: to collect more data and analyze it more efficiently
to develop numerical services, to constantly improve product
traceability, to remain at the cutting edge of technology.

In line with Danone’s One Planet, One Health vision, this B Corp™
labeled facility has been designed to limit its impact on the
environment, making it the first-ever European research center to hold
the low carbon label.

Essential Dairy and Plant-Based Products 2023

The EDP Reporting Categories’ Research and Innovation teams
continued to innovate in 2023 by expanding the product ranges to
include:

B products high in protein, that are leveraging key R&I expertise and
technologies (fermentation, ambient, filtration) have been launched
in various geographies with different flavors and formats;

B dairy-based products: Oikos in Japan, YoPro in Brazil and Spain,
GetPro and Hipro in Europe and Egypt. Subranges have been
created as well to answer specific consumer needs YoPro Energy
Boost in Brazil, and high protein dairy products to maintain and
grow muscles in Europe;

The high protein trend has been expanded as well to plant-based
products in Europe and North America. For example, Alpro drinkable
high protein, Alpro yogurt alternative with no added sugar, Silk Greek
yogurt alternative in tube format, Silk oat and almond beverages with
protein.

B products low in sugar like Light'n Fit Zero cups and drinks, Two Good
smoothies, So Delicious Dairy Free plant based alternative yogurt in
the US have been launched leveraging ultrafiltration technology;

B products supporting gut health with Alpro plant based alternative
yogurt launched in the United Kingdom and Activia fermented milk
in Brazil, a symbiotic value proposition for consumers thanks the
combinations of probiotic and prebiotics fibers, with low in lactose
and 20% less total sugar vs local market;

B products supporting immunity, such as Actimel (enriched with
vitamins D, B6 and B12) were launched in Europe;
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B indulgent products with Danette drinkable in Turkey or Alpro
coconut plant-based yogurt alternatives in Europe;

B affordable and accessible products, like Al Baraka, Danone and
Dango, in Egypt.

Danone conducted research on gut biology, gut microbiome,
probiotics, and their impact on health. In particular, the Research and
Innovation teams in France, partnered with Le French Gut to
characterize the gut microbiota of up to 100,000 adult volunteers living
in France, to better understand the relation between gut and health
through diet. Also, the Danone Open Science Research Center (OSRC)
in Shanghai was announced as the certificated “large enterprises
(Group) Open Innovation center” (GOI), making this a significant
recognition from the Chinese Government. Danone Research and
Innovation is thus approved to apply for support including subsidies
(reimbursement). This new support for Group Open Innovation centers
from the Chinese Government, has been possible thanks to the
Danone “Open Innovation” Research and Innovation approach.

Waters 2023

In 2023, the Waters Reporting Categories’ Research and Innovation
team focused their efforts on:

B renovation for superiority: overhauling the beverage ranges under
the Sirma, Bonafont and Volvic brands to offer less sugary and more
natural flavored versions. For example, Volvic ranges with improved
taste propositions was launched in Germany. In China, Mizone
Electrolyte, an isotonic sports drink launched with enriched minerals
and vitamins, to complement the existing superior range;

B focused innovations with the launch of ZYWIEC ZDROJ spring water
enriched with minerals and vitamins in Poland;

B development of non-plastic packaging; expanding the use of large
formats, increased levels of recycled PET bottles and/or launching
plastic alternatives. For instance, evian in France and Bonafont in
Mexico launched a label-free bottle. The design has been created to
achieve a circular packaging solution; it is recyclable and made with
100% recycled plastic excluding cap, whilst being label-free.

Danone-Aqua Positive Water Impact program in Indonesia promotes
water stewardship through the sustainable use of groundwater giving
time for nature to replenish more than the water extracted, creating a
positive water balance.

Another key area for research is to continue exploring new sustainable
packaging materials through partnerships such as Lanzatech to
develop PET from carbon sources or experimenting new business
models as distributing evian in bulk through a water fountain, reducing
even further the carbon footprint.

Specialized Nutrition 2023

In 2023, the Specialized Nutrition Reporting Categories’ Research and
Innovation teams continued to develop products, science, and
technology to serve infants, children, and their parents, and for people
of all ages who have been diagnosed with various medical conditions.
They launched new solutions:

W in Europe, Aptamil Dairy and Plants Blend formula was launched,
designed for those families who want to incorporate more plant-
based choices into their lifestyle for health and for the planet.
Another launch worth noticing is Aptamil pre-measured tabs to
support parents and babies;
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in China, Fortimel was launched. Designed to meet the nutritional
needs of patients recovering after surgery or non-communicable
diseases like cancer and stroke and complements. The new range,
which will be produced in China, brings together Danone's
longstanding expertise in medical nutrition and insights into the
preferences and needs of Chinese patients;

specialized pediatric products: Neocate SYNEO (A R4 £ &), as an
important product in Neocate family, has been launched in the
Chinese market. Danone also launched in Spain a new probiotic
supplement, Almimama. It supports breastfeeding by helping to
reduce the incidence of mastitis, according to findings from a
clinical study;

in Europe, Danone launched Fortini Mix, a medical nutrition drink
with ingredients with real fruit and vegetable sources, tailored for
pediatric patients;

Flocare range of innovative medical devices launched Infinity III in
Europe to facilitate tube feeding for patients and their families. In

Major contracts

3.2 Consolidated net income review

the US, Danone launched Nutricia Pepticate to support parents and
babies;

in Latin America, Danone launched Pregomin Plus, a hypercaloric
extensively hydrolyzed allergy infant formula in Brazil for infants
who face allergy and growth challenges at the same time; Ketoblend
in Argentina, a unique blend specially designed for culinary
preparations.

These product launches were supported by continuous innovative
work in life science:

in 2023, 108 articles related to gut health, immunity, growth, brain
health among other health topics have been published;

an activation campaign on Gut Microbioma and the link with diet
and lifestyle has been realized. The Human Diets & Microbiome
Initiative (THDMI) is an unprecedented international research study
engaging citizen scientists to revolutionize the exploration of the
gut microbiome and unveil the secrets of the gut.

Over the last two fiscal years, Danone has not entered into any major contracts entailing a significant obligation or commitment for the Group and

its subsidiaries, other than those entered into in the normal course of business.

IEZJ CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

KEY FIGURES

Year ended December 31

2022 m Reported Like-for-like

(in € millions except if stated otherwise) changes changes ©

Sales 27,661 27,619 (0.2%) +7.0%
Recurring operating income 3,377 3,481 3.1%
Recurring operating margin 12.2% 12.6% 40 pb
Non-recurring operating income and expenses @ (1,234) (1,438) (205)
Operating income 2,143 2,042 (4.7%)
Operating margin 7.7% 7.4% (35) pb
Recurring net income - Group share @ 2,205 2,283 3.5%
Non-recurring net income - Group share (1,246) (1,402) (156)
Net income - Group share 959 881 (8.1%)
Recurring EPS (in €) @ 3.43 3.54 3.4%
EPS (in €) 1.48 1.36 (8.0%)
Free cash flow © 2,127 2,633 23.8%
Cash flow from operating activities 2,964 3,442 16.1%

(a) See definition in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined in IFRS.
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3.2 Consolidated net income review

SALES

Consolidated sales

In 2023, consolidated sales stood at €27,619 million, up +7.0% on a
like-for-like basis, with price up +7.4% and volume/mix down -0.4%.
Volume/mix improved progressively throughout the year, to turn
positive in Q4 (+0.8%).

Sales by Zones

On a reported basis, sales decreased by -0.2%, reflecting notably a
negative impact from forex (-4.3%), driven by the depreciation of the
majority of currencies against the euro. Reported sales were also
penalized by a negative effect from scope (-3.4%), while hyperinflation
contributed positively to reported sales (+1.8%).

Year ended December 31

2022 Sales growth ©

Volume Mix /

(in € millions except percentage) Growth ©
Europe ® 8,871 9,382 5.9% (3.3%)
North America 6,712 6,889 5.8% 0.2%

China, North Asia & Oceania 3,428 3,496 10.1% 8.6%

Latin America 2,805 2,794 9.8% (1.3%)
Rest of the World 5,846 5,058 7.2% (1.8%)
TOTAL 27,661 27,619 7.0% (0.4%)

(a) Net sales to third parties.

(b) Including net sales of €2,324 million generated in France in 2023 (€2,134 million in 2022). See Note 7.2. to the Consolidated financial statements.
(c) As part of the new organization, 2022 sales were reallocated in line with the redefinition of operating segments.
(d) As part of the changes in the geography-led organization, 2023 sales were reallocated in line with the redefinition of operating segments (see Note 2.1 to the

Consolidated financial statements).
(e) Like-for-like.

Europe

Sales

Europe posted sales growth of +5.9% in 2023 on a like-for-like basis,
driven by +9.2% growth in price and a -3.3% decrease in volume/mix.

Main Markets

In EDP, the portfolio transformation started to deliver results, and the
performance improved sequentially throughout the year, led by Actimel,
Danone, YoPro and Alpro. Specialized Nutrition delivered resilient growth
in a soft category while Waters registered double-digit like-for-like sales
growth, driven notably by evian, Volvic and Zywiec Zdroj.

North America

Sales
North America posted +5.8% sales growth in 2023 on a like-for-like

basis, driven by +5.6% growth in price and a +0.2% growth in volume/
mix.

Main Markets

North America delivered a strong performance in 2023, led by coffee
creations and yogurts, and in particular by International Delight, Stok
and Oikos. In plant-based, Danone is working on restoring its short-term
competitiveness, while progressing in the restaging of its portfolio.
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China, North Asia & Oceania

Sales

China, North Asia & Oceania posted sales growth of +10.1% in 2023 on
a like-for-like basis, driven by +1.5% growth in price and a +8.6% growth
in volume/mix.

Main Markets

China, North Asia & Oceania registered strong competitive growth in
2023. In China, Aptamil registered strong growth in infant nutrition,
coupled with further market share gains, while Nutrison and Neocate
posted double-digit growth in Adult Nutrition and Pediatric Specialties
respectively. In Waters, Mizone is confirming its turnaround, growing
double-digits, led by volume and market share gains. Outside China,
EDP registered double-digit growth in Japan, led by functional brands.

Latin America

Sales

Latin America posted sales growth of +9.8% on a like-for-like basis,
driven by +11.1% growth in price, while volume/mix declined by -1.3%.

Main Markets

The performance was driven by all geographies and categories, and
notably driven by Oikos, YoPro and Bonafont. In Brazil, Danone is
progressing on the transformation of its business model, towards the
more value-added parts of its portfolio.
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Rest of the World

Sales

Rest of the World registered sales growth of +7.2% on a life-for-like
basis, driven by price growth of +9.0%, while volume/mix decreased by
-1.8%.

Sales by categories

3.2 Consolidated net income review

Main Markets

The performance was driven by all categories in 2023. In particular,
Specialized Nutrition was led by a sustained momentum across Asia and
Middle East, while Waters posted a solid performance, notably in
Indonesia. In Africa, Danone is progressing in fixing its dairy business
model, while building more structural resilience.

Year ended December 31

Share of sales Share of sales

delivered by  delivered by

LFL Sales Volume Mix/ categoriesin categoriesin

(in € millions except percentage) 2022 growth © Growth @ 2022 2023
EDP 14,799 14,322 6.6% (1.4%) 54% 52%
Specialized Nutrition 8,319 8,504 6.7% 0.6% 30% 31%
Waters 4,543 4,793 9.1% 0.8% 16% 17%
TOTAL 27,661 27,619 7.0% (0.4%) 100% 100%

(a) Like-for-like.

RECURRING OPERATING INCOME AND RECURRING OPERATING MARGIN

Consolidated recurring operating income and recurring operating margin

Danone's recurring operating income reached €3.5 billion in 2023.

Recurring operating margin stood at 12.6%, up +40 basis points (bps)
compared to last year. This increase was mainly driven by the
improvement of margin from operations, up +142 bps: topline drivers,
including volume, mix and price, had a combined positive impact of
circa +590 bps, partially offset by the still strong negative impact of
input-cost inflation net of productivity, at circa -450 bps.

Besides, Danone continued to step-up its reinvestments in brands,
product superiority and capabilities, which had a negative effect of
-97 bps in 2023. Finally, Scope, Forex and others had a positive impact
on Recurring operating margin of +13 bps, partially offset by
Overheads before reinvestments, that had a negative effect of -18 bps.

Cost of goods sold totaled €14,535 million in 2023 (£14,922 million in
2022), or 52.6% of consolidated sales (53.9% in 2022).

Selling expense totaled €6,288 million in 2023 (€6,294 million in 2022),
or 22.8% of consolidated sales, broadly in line with 2022.

General and administrative expense totaled €2,748 million in 2023, or
9.9% of consolidated sales (9.5% in 2022). Research and Development
costs totaled €398 million in 2023, up compared to 2022 (€339 million)
(see section 3.1 Business highlights in 2023).

Other income and expense stood at €(170) million in 2023 (£(92)
million in 2022).

Recurring operating income and recurring operating margin by zone

Year ended December 31

Recurring operating income

Reported
2022 2023 m 2023 changes

(in € millions except percentage and bps)

Recurring operating margin

Europe 1,084 1,076 12.2% 11.5% -75 bps
North America 679 699 10.1% 10.1% 3 bps
China, North Asia & Oceania 1,037 1,052 30.2% 30.1% -15 bps
Latin America 55 123 1.9% 4.4% 247 bps
Rest of the World 522 530 8.9% 10.5% 155 bps
TOTAL 3,377 3,481 12.2% 12.6% 40 bps
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Recurring operating income and recurring operating margin by categories

Year ended December 31

Trading operating income Trading operating margin Reported
(in € millions except percentage and bps)
EDP 1,207 1,224 8.2% 8.5% 39 bps
Specialized Nutrition 1,799 1,772 21.6% 20.8% -79 bps
Waters 370 485 8.2% 10.1% 197 bps
TOTAL 3,377 3,481 12.2% 12.6% 40 bps

NET FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

Market risks exposure and management policy

See Note 12 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Net financial income (expense)

Year ended December 31

Interest income on cash, cash equivalents and short term investments 155 341
Interest expense on financial debt (308) (513)
Cost of net financial debt (153) (172)
Other financial income 51 60
Other financial expense (208) (245)
Other financial income or expense (158) (185)
NET FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE) (311) (357)

Net financial costs increased by €46 million to €(357) million, reflecting an increase in interest rates.

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Recurring income tax rate remained at 27.2%, in line with the prior year.
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3.2 Consolidated net income review

RECURRING NET INCOME - GROUP SHARE AND RECURRING EPS

Recurring net income reached €2,364 million in 2023 (€2,275 million in 2022).

Other operating income and expense reached €(1,438) million in 2023, vs €(1,234) million in the prior year, due to the deconsolidation , i.e. July 16,
2023 of EDP Russia and the impairment, in accordance with IFRS 5, the assets and liabilities held for sale, following the signing of an agreement to

sell the US premium organic dairy activities.

Share of profit of equity-accounted
companies

Share of profit of equity-accounted companies stood at €36 million,
improving from €(32) million last year, which reflected the impairment

related to the disposal of the remaining minority investments in
Mengniu partnerships.

Net income from non-controlling interests

Recurring minority interest stood at €81 million, up from €70 million in
2022.

Recurring net income - Group share

Recurring net income - Group share was €2,283 million in 2023, up
+3.5% vs last year.

Recurring EPS was €3.54 per share, up +3.4% vs last year. Reported
EPS decreased by -8.0% to €1.36 per share.

Bridge from Net income - Group share to Recurring net income - Group share

Year ended December 31

Non- Non-
(in € millions except percentage) Recurring recurring LICIEIR  Recurring  recurring Total
Trading operating income 3,377 - 3,337 3,481 - 3,481
Other operating income and expense - (1,234) (1,234) - (1,438) (1,438)
Operating income 3,377 (1,234) 2,143 3,481 (1,438) 2,042
Cost of net debt (153) - (153) (172) - (172)
Other financial income and expense (138) (20) (158) (135) (49) (185)
Income before taxes 3,086 (1,253) 1,832 3,173 (1,487) 1,686
Income tax (841) 64 (778) (864) 95 (768)
Effective tax rate 273 % - % 42.4 % 27.2 % - % 45.6 %
Net income from fully consolidated companies 2,244 (1,190) 1,054 2,309 (1,392) 917
Net income from associates 31 (63) (32) 55 (19) 36
Net income 2,275 (1,252) 1,023 2,364 (1,411) 953
B Group share 2,205 (1,246) 959 2,283 (1,402) 881
B Non-controlling interests 70 (6) 64 81 9) 72
Diluted EPS (in €) 3.43 - 1.48 3.54 - 1.36
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3.2 Consolidated net income review

Bridge from EPS to Recurring EPS

Year ended December 31

2022
Recurring Total Recurring

Net Income - Group share (in € millions) 2,205 959 2,283 881
Coupon relating to hybrid financing net of tax (in € millions) (13) (13) (8) (8)
NUMBER OF SHARES

B Before dilution 639,050,821 639,050,821 641,030,818 641,030,818
B After dilution 639,484,607 639,484,607 641,738,674 641,738,674
EPS (in €)

W Before dilution 343 1.48 3.55 1.36
B After dilution 3.43 1.48 3.54 1.36

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Bridge from reported to like-for-like figures

Impact of Organic
Impact of changes in contribution
changesin exchange rates from
Like-for-like scope of and others, hyperinflation Reported
(in € millions except percentage) 2022 change consolidation including IAS 29 countries change
Sales 27,661 +7.0% (3.4%) (5.6%) +1.8% (0.2%) 27,619

IAS 29: impact on reported data

Danone has applied IAS 29 to Argentina in its financial statements as
from the year ended December 31, 2018, to Iran as from the year
ended December 31, 2020, to Turkey as from the year ended
December 31, 2022 and to Ghana as from the year ended December
31,2023.

Danone has been applying IAS 29 in hyperinflation countries as
defined in IFRS. Adoption of IAS 29 in these hyperinflationary countries

(in € millions except percentage)

requires its non-monetary assets and liabilities and its income
statement to be restated to reflect the changes in the general pricing
power of its functional currency, leading to a gain or loss on the net
monetary position included in the net income. Moreover, its financial
statements are converted into euros using the closing exchange rate
of the relevant period.

Sales (198)
Sales growth (0.7%)
Recurring Operating Income (55)
Recurring Net Income - Group share (64)
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3.3 Free cash flow

Breakdown by quarter of full-year 2023 sales after application of IAS 29

Full-year 2023 sales correspond to the addition of: (application of the inflation rate until December 31, 2023 and
translation into euros using December 31, 2023 closing rate) and
W Q42022 reported sales; provided in the table below for information (unaudited data).
B Q1, Q2 and Q3 2023 sales resulting from the application of IAS 29

until December 31 to sales of entities of hyperinflation countries

(in € millions) Q12023 @ Q22023 ™ Q32023 Q42023 2023
Europe 2,248 2,429 2,392 2,313 9,382
North America 1,714 1,704 1,747 1,725 6,889
China, North Asia & Oceania 824 954 896 822 3,496
Latin America 639 727 724 704 2,794
Rest of the World 1,480 1,392 1,095 1,092 5,058
TOTAL 6,904 7,205 6,854 6,655 27,619

(a) Results from the application of IAS 29 until December 31, 2023 to Q1 sales of entities of hyperinflation countries.
(b) Results from the application of IAS 29 until December 31, 2023 to Q2 sales of entities of hyperinflation countries.
(c) Results from the application of IAS 29 until December 31, 2023 to Q3 sales of entities of hyperinflation countries.

DIVIDEND PAID IN RESPECT OF 2023 FISCAL YEAR

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 25, 2024, Danone's Board of Directors will propose a dividend of €2.10 per share in respect of the
2023 fiscal year, up +5.0% compared to last year, and back to 2019 record-level. Assuming this proposal is approved, the ex-dividend date will be
May 3, 2024, and dividends will be payable on May 7, 2024.

EE] FREE CASH FLOW

At the date of this Universal Registration Document, Danone estimates Free cash flow reached €2,633 million in 2023, increasing from
that the cash flows generated by its operating activities, its cash flow €2,127 million in 2022, reflecting the significant increase in cash-flow
and the funds available through confirmed credit lines managed at the from operating activities. Capex stood at €847 million.

level of the Company will be sufficient to cover the necessary expenses

and investments, the debt service (including the financing of the

exercise of any put options granted to holders of non-controlling

interests) and the payment of dividends.

FREE CASH FLOW

Transition from operating cash flow to free cash flow

Year ended December 31

Cash-flow from operating activities 2,964 3,442
Capital expenditure (873) (847)
Disposal of tangible assets & transaction fees related to business combinations 37 38
FREE CASH-FLOW 2,127 2,633

(a) Represents acquisition costs related to business combinations paid during the period.
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3.3 Free cash flow

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31

Net income 1,023 953
Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted companies, net of dividends received 53 (13)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible 1863 1611
assets ' !
Net change in provisions and non-current liabilities (241) (52)
Change in deferred taxes 40 (46)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial investments 78 (7)
Expense related to share-based payments and Company Savings Plans 25 61
Cost of net financial debt 154 170
Net interest paid (152) (181)
Net change in interest income (expense) 2 (11)
Other items with no cash impact 44 669
Cash flows provided by operating activities, before changes in net working capital 2,886 3,165
(Increase) decrease in inventories (667) 41
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (424) 74
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 879 324
Change in other receivables and payables 289 (162)
Change in working capital requirements 77 277
Cash flows provided by operating activities 2,964 3,442
Capital expenditure ® (873) (847)
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment ® 30 15
Net cash outflows on purchases of subsidiaries and financial investments (100) (162)
Net cash inflows on disposal of subsidiaries and financial investments 206 177
(Increase) decrease in long-term loans and other long-term financial assets (12) (17)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investment activities (749) (834)
Increase in share capital and additional paid-in capital 51 69
Purchase of treasury shares (net of disposals) - -
Net issuance of undated subordinated notes - (750)
Interest expense and redemption premium on undated subordinated notes (18) (18)
Dividends paid to Danone shareholders @ (1,238) 1,279)
Buyout of non-controlling interests (91) (118)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (80) (62)
Contribution from non-controlling interests to capital increases 17 0
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.3 Free cash flow

(in € millions)

Year ended December 31

Transactions with non-controlling interests (153) (181)
Net cash flows on hedging derivatives © 4 0
Bonds issued during the period 600 1,597
Bonds redeemed during the period (1,682) (1,852)
Net cash flows from other current and non-current financial debt (1,032) 577
Net cash flows from short-term investments 1,535 (220)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities ® (1,934) (2,057)
Effect of exchange rate and other changes 112 (503)
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 392 49
Cash and cash equivalents as of start of period 659 1,051
Cash and cash equivalents as of end of period 1,051 2,363
Net cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 ™ 721 1,099
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Income tax payments during the year (716) (730)

(a) Mainly includes the impact of recycling translation adjustments related to EDP Russia business following the deconsolidation on july 16, 2023 (see Note 3 to the

consolidated financial statements).

(b) Relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operating activities.
(c) Acquisition/disposal of companies’ shares. In the case of fully consolidated companies, this comprises cash and cash equivalents as of the acquisition/disposal

date.
(d) Portion paid in cash.
(e) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.

(f) Including €37 million relating to the change in bank overdrafts as of December 31, 2022.

(g) Effect of reclassification with no impact on net debt.
(h) Bank overdrafts amounted to €330 million as of December 31, 2022.
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3 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review

IEXZ} BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As of December 31

Non-current assets 33,128 31,570
Current assets 12,153 12916
Total assets 45,281 44,486
Equity - Group share 17,923 16,176
Non-controlling interests 69 46
Non-current liabilities 15,160 14,436
Current liabilities 12,130 13,828
Total equity and liabilities 45,281 44,486
Net debt 10,107 10,221
Net financial debt 9,785 9,865

FINANCING STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL SECURITY

Liquidity risk exposure and management policy

See Note 12 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. In particular, Danone manages its liquidity risk and its financing at Company
level.

Financing situation and liquidity risk
Main financing transactions in 2023

Year ended December 31

(in millions of currency) Currency Nominal

NEW FINANCING

Euro bond EUR 800 2029
Euro bond EUR 800 2031
REPAYMENTS AND REDEMPTIONS

Hybrid bond EUR 750 2023
Euro bond EUR 500 2023
USD bond usD 1500 2023
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review

Main financial debt repayment schedule

This relates to financing managed at the Company level.

PROJECTED CASH OUTFLOWS RELATED TO THE CONTRACTUAL REPAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT BASED ON THE
ASSUMPTION OF NON-RENEWAL

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
(in € millions)

356
4,000
2,000
o
. | 500 [
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 Undated
B Bonds I Licbilities related to put options
B Commercial paper @ I Hybrid financing ®

(a) Includes the value of derivatives hedging bonds and commercial paper.
(b) Including €500 million with a call date in 2026.

Sources of financing available at any time

Financing available at any time is carried on the Company's books and comprises committed credit facilities and a syndicated credit facility.

AS OF DECEMBER 31
(in € millions)

3,000
2,000
1,000
231
47 367
0 .
2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Il Syndicated credit facility H Committed credit facilities
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review

Company rating

As of December 31

Moody's Standard and Poor's

Rating - A-2 = A-2

2022
Moody's Standard and Poor's

SHORT-TERM RATING @

LONG-TERM RATING ®

Rating Baa1l BBB+ Baa1 BBB+
Outlook Stable Stable Stable Stable

(a) Rating given to the Company’s commercial paper program.
(b) Rating given to the Company’s senior debt issues with a maturity of more than one year.

LIABILITIES RELATED TO PUT OPTIONS GRANTED
TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

General principles

Danone granted put options to third parties with non-controlling interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries, these options give the holders the
right to sell part or all of their investment in these subsidiaries. These financial liabilities do not bear interest.

Changes during the period

As of January 1 354 323

New options and options recognized previously in accordance with IFRS 9 -

Options exercised © @1 (67)
Changes in the present value of outstanding options 50 100
AS OF DECEMBER 31 ™ 323 356

(a) Carrying amount at the closing date of the previous period for options exercised.
(b) In most cases, the strike price is an earnings multiple.
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review

NET DEBT AND NET FINANCIAL DEBT

Net debt

As of December 31

Non-current financial debt ® 11,238 10,739
Current financial debt @ 3,298 4,270
Short-term investments (3,631) (3,638)
Cash (1,0571) (2,363)
Bank overdrafts 330 1,264
Derivatives - assets - Non-current © (18) (34)
Derivatives - assets - Current ® (60) (16)
NET DEBT 10,107 10,221

(a) Consists of €879 million of lease debt following the application of IFRS 16 Leases.
(b) Used solely to manage net debt.

Bridge from net debt to net financial debt

Year ended December 31

Net debt 10,107 10,221
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests — Non-current (59) -
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests — Current (263) (356)
Financial debt excluded from net debt (322) (356)
NET FINANCIAL DEBT 9,785 9,865
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review

Net debt / EBITDA and Return on invested capital (ROIC)

Danone tracks these ratios on a yearly basis.

Net debt / EBITDA

The net debt / EBITDA ratio corresponds to the ratio of net debt to operating income restated for depreciation, amortization and impairment of
tangible and intangible assets. The ratio for 2023 fiscal year was 2.8x:

(in € millions except ratio) 2022 m

Net debt as of December 31 10,107 10,221
Operating income 2,143 2,042
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible 1863 1611
assets

EBITDA of the year 4,006 3,654
NET DEBT/EBITDA OF THE YEAR ¥ 2.5x 2.8x

(a) Notably includes the impact of recycling translation adjustments related to EDP Russia business following the deconsolidation on July 16, 2023 (see Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements). Excluding the recycling translation adjustments, the net debt / EBITDA ratio of the year would be 2.5x.

ROIC
ROIC is the ratio of net operating income in the current year to average capital invested in the current and prior years.

Invested capital = goodwill and other tangible and intangible assets + investments in non-consolidated companies and other financial investments
+ assets held for sale net of liabilities + working capital requirements - provisions and other net liabilities.

The ROIC stood at 9.5% in 2023:

(in € millions except percentage) 2021 2022 m

Recurring operating income 3,337 3,377 3,481
Recurring income tax rate 27.4% 27.3% 27.2%
Tax on recurring operating income (914) (922) (947)
Recurring income from associates 7 31 55
Operating income 2,429 2,486 2,588
Intangible assets 24,053 24,239 23,093
Property, plant and equipment 6,843 6,752 6,441
Goodwill and other tangible and intangible assets 30,896 30,991 29,534
Investments in associates 771 576 416
Other financial investments 688 808 839
Short-term loans 8 3 3
f:\‘;::ttnn::rr:ttss in non-consolidated companies and other financial 1,466 1,387 1,259
Assets held for sale net of liabilities 238 191 286
Deferred taxes net of deferred tax assets (612) (848) (743)
Provisions for retirement and other long-term benefits (1,105) (772) (904)
Other non-current provisions and liabilities (1,823) (1,565) (1,303)
Provisions and other net liabilities (3,540) (3,185) (2,950)
Working capital (1,166) (1,284) (1,686)
Invested capital of the year 27,894 28,100 26,443
Average invested capital 28,066 27,997 27,271
ROIC 8.7% 8.9% 9.5%
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

3.5 Outlook 2024

Change in shareholders equity - Group share

(in € millions)

Year ended December 31

As of January 1 17,273 17,923
Net income 959 881
Other comprehensive income 274 (125)
Dividends paid © (1,238) (1,279)
Cumulative translation adjustments 436 (638)
Other 219 (586)
AS OF DECEMBER 31 17,923 16,176

(a) Impact on the Group share of the equity, the impact of the dividends paid on the consolidated equity amounting to € (1,341) million in 2023 (€ (1,318) million in 2022).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Commitments given as of December 31, 2023 relating to operating activities

Amount of financial flows for the period

m 2028 and
(in € millions) 2024 2025 2026 2027 after
Commitments to purchase goods and services @ (5,986) (2,931) (833) (375) (261) (1,586)
Capital expenditure commitments (184) (146) (34) 0 0 (3)
Guarantees and pledges given (4) (4) - - - -
Other (86) (57) (13) (9) 4) €)
TOTAL (6,260) (3,138) (880) (384) (266) (1,593)

(a)  Commitments relating mainly to purchases of milk, dairy ingredients and other food raw materials.

EX] outLoOK 2024

MATERIAL CHANGE IN FINANCIAL OR TRADING POSITION

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries as a whole since December 31, 2023.

OUTLOOK FOR 2024

2024 guidance is in line with mid-term targets: like-for-like sales growth between +3 and +5% with moderate recurring operating margin

improvement.
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.6 Financial indicators not defined in IFRS

X FINANCIAL INDICATORS NOT DEFINED IN IFRS

Financial indicators not defined in IFRS used by Danone are calculated
as follows:

Like-for-like changes in sales, reflect Danone's organic performance
and essentially exclude the impact of:

B changes in consolidation scope, with indicators related to a given
fiscal year calculated on the basis of previous-year scope;

B changes in applicable accounting principles;

B changes in exchange rates with both previous-year and current-
year indicators calculated using the same exchange rates (the
exchange rate used is a projected annual rate determined by
Danone for the current year and applied to both previous and
current years).

Like-for-like changes in recurring operating margin are not disclosed
anymore as the indicator is not constitutive of the Group guidance nor
is used by the Group to comment the results.

Since January 1, 2023, all countries with hyperinflationary economies
are taken into account in like-for-like changes as follows: net sales
growth in excess of around 26% per year (a three-year average at 26%
would generally trigger the application of hyperinflationary accounting
as defined in IFRS) is now excluded from the like-for-like net sales
growth calculation.

Margin from operation is defined as the Gross margin over Net sales
ratio, where Gross margin corresponds to the difference between Net
sales and Industrial costs excluding reengineering initiatives and
Logistics / Transportation costs.

Recurring operating income is defined as Danone’s operating income
excluding Other operating income and expenses. Other operating
income and expenses comprise items that, because of their significant
or unusual nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to Danone’s recurring
activity and have limited predictive value, thus distorting the
assessment of its recurring operating performance and its evolution.
These mainly include:

B capital gains and losses on disposals of fully consolidated
companies;

impairment charges on intangible assets with indefinite useful lives;
costs related to strategic restructurings or transformation plans;
costs related to major external growth transactions;

costs related to major crisis and major litigations;

in connection with of IFRS 3 (Revised) and IAS 27 (Revised) relating
to business combinations, (i) acquisition costs related to business
combinations, (i) revaluation profit or loss accounted for following a
loss of control, and (iii) changes in earn-outs relating to business
combinations and subsequent to acquisition date.

Recurring operating margin is defined as Recurring operating income
over Sales ratio.

Other non-recurring financial income and expense corresponds to
financial income and expense items that, in view of their significant or
unusual nature, cannot be considered as inherent to Danone's
recurring financial management. These mainly include changes in
value of non-consolidated interests.
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Non-recurring income tax corresponds to income tax on non-
recurring items as well as tax income and expense items that, in view
of their significant or unusual nature, cannot be considered as inherent
to Danone’s recurring performance.

Recurring effective tax rate measures the effective tax rate of
Danone’s recurring performance and is computed as the ratio income
tax related to recurring items over recurring net income before tax.

Non-recurring share of profit of equity-accounted companies
include items that, because of their significant or unusual nature,
cannot be viewed as inherent to the companies’ recurring activity and
thereby distort the assessment of their recurring performance and
trends in that performance. These items mainly relate to:

B capital gains and losses on disposal of Investments in equity-
accounted companies,

B impairment of goodwill, and

B non-recurring items, as defined by Danone, included in the share of
profit of equity-accounted companies.

Recurring net income (or Recurring net income - Group Share)
corresponds to the Group share of the consolidated Recurring net
income. The Recurring net income excludes items that, because of
their significant or unusual nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to
Danone’s recurring activity and have limited predictive value, thus
distorting the assessment of its recurring performance and its
evolution. Such non-recurring income and expenses correspond to
Other operating income and expenses, Other non-recurring financial
income and expenses, Non-recurring income tax, and Non-recurring
income from associates. Such income and expenses, excluded from
Net income, represent Non-recurring net income.

Recurring EPS (or Recurring net income - Group Share, per share after
dilution) is defined as the ratio of Recurring net income adjusted for
hybrid financing over diluted number of shares. In compliance with
IFRS, income used to calculate EPS is adjusted for the coupon related
to the hybrid financing accrued for the period and presented net of
tax.

Free cash-flow represents cash flows provided or used by operating
activities less capital expenditure net of disposals and, in connection
with IFRS 3 (Revised) relating to business combinations, excluding (i)
acquisition costs related to business combinations, and (i) earn-outs
related to business combinations and paid subsequently to acquisition
date.

Net financial debt represents the net debt portion bearing interest. It
corresponds to current and non-current financial debt (i) excluding
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests
and (ii) net of Cash and cash equivalents, Short term investments and
Derivatives - assets managing net debt.

Net debt / EBITDA ratio and ROIC are defined in section 3.4 Balance
sheet and financial security review.



BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2023 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2024

3.7 Documents available to the public

WA DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC

The by-laws, the minutes of Shareholders’ Meetings, reports of the Moreover, historical financial information and certain information

Statutory auditors, and other corporate documents may be consulted regarding the organization and businesses of the Company and its

at the Company's registered office. subsidiaries are available on Danone's website www.danone.com
(section Regulated information).
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4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES
TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated income statement and earnings per share

Year ended December 31

(in € millions, except earnings per share in €) Notes 2022 m

Sales 7.1,7.2 27,661 27,619
Cost of goods sold (14,922) (14,535)
Selling expense (6,294) (6,288)
General and administrative expense (2,637) (2,748)
Research and Development expense (339) (398)
Other income (expense) 7.3 (92) (170)
Recurring operating income 3,377 3,481
Other operating income (expense) 8.1 (1,234) (1,438)
Operating income 2,143 2,042

Interest income on cash equivalents and short-term investments 155 341

Interest expense (308) (513)
Cost of net financial debt 12.7 (153) (172)
Other financial income 133 51 60
Other financial expense 133 (208) (245)
Income before tax 1,832 1,686
Income tax 101 (778) (768)
Net income from fully consolidated companies 1,054 917
Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted companies 6.5,6.6 (32) 36
NET INCOME 1,023 953
Net income - Group share 959 881
Net income - Non-controlling interests 64 72
Earnings per share - Group share 154 1.48 1.36
Diluted earnings per share - Group share 154 1.48 1.36
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended December 31

Net income - Group share 959 881

Translation adjustments 368 (638)

CASH FLOW HEDGE DERIVATIVES

Gross unrealized gains and losses 31 (45)

Tax effects (8) 17

Other gains and losses, net of tax - -
ITEMS THAT MAY BE SUBSEQUENTLY RECYCLED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 391 (666)

INVESTMENTS IN OTHER NON-CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

Gross unrealized gains and losses (20) (15)

Tax effects 5 2

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES ON RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS

Gross gains and losses 347 (118)
Tax effects 81 E5
ITEMS NOT SUBSEQUENTLY RECYCLABLE TO PROFIT OR LOSS 251 (96)
Total comprehensive income - Group share 1,601 118
Total comprehensive income - Non-controlling interests 35 69
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1,636 187
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet

As of December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2022 m

ASSETS
Goodwill 17,938 17,340
Brands 5,843 5,256
Other intangible assets 458 498
Intangible assets 111t 11.3 24,239 23,093
Property, plant and equipment 7.5 6,752 6,441
Investments in equity-accounted companies 6.1t0 6.7 576 416
Investments in other non-consolidated companies 341 324
Long-term loans and financial assets 468 515
Other financial assets 13.1,13.2 808 839
Derivatives - assets 14.2,143 18 34
Deferred taxes 10.2 735 746
Non-current assets 33,128 31,570
Inventories 7.4 2,619 2,341
Trade receivables 7.4 3,272 2,919
Other current assets 7.4 1,315 1,259
Short-term loans 3 3
Derivatives - assets 14.2,143 60 16
Short-term investments 121,125 3,631 3,638
Cash 1,051 2,363
Assets held for sale © 4,52,66 202 376
Current assets 12,153 12,916
TOTAL ASSETS 45,281 44,486

(a) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.
(b) As of December 31, 2023, this concerns assets relating to the organic dairy business in the United States and to Michel et Augustin.
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4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

As of December 31

(in € millions) Notes
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 169 169
Additional paid-in capital 5,188 5,256
Retained earnings and other @ 123 17,916 16,845
Translation adjustments (3,398) (4,036)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (382) (507)
Treasury shares 15.2 (1,569) (1,552)
Equity - Group share 17,923 16,176
Non-controlling interests 5.6 69 46
Consolidated equity 17,992 16,222
Financing 121t0 124 10,806 10,447
Derivatives - liabilities 142,143 373 293
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests 5.6 59 =
Non-current financial debt 11,238 10,739
Provisions for retirement obligations and other long-term benefits 9.3 772 904
Deferred taxes 10.2 1,583 1,489
Other provisions and non-current liabilities 16.2,16.3 1,565 1,303
Non-current liabilities 15,160 14,436
Financing 121t012.4 3,357 5,154
Derivatives - liabilities ™ 14.2,14.3 8 23
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests
and earn-outs on acquisitions resulting in control 5.6 263 356
Current financial debt 3,628 5,533
Trade payables 7.4 4,899 4,779
Other current liabilities 7.4 3,591 3,425
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 4,52 11 90
Current liabilities 12,130 13,828
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 45,281 44,486

(a) "Other" corresponds to undated subordinated notes totaling €500 million.
(b) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.

(c) As of December 31, 2023, these concern liabilities relating to the organic dairy business in the United States and to Michel et Augustin.
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4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2022 -:E’

Net income 1,023 953
Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted companies, net of dividends received 6.5,6.6 53 (13)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets 75113 1863 1611
Net change in provisions and non-current liabilities 16.2,16.3 (247) (52)
Change in deferred taxes 10.2 40 (46)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial investments 78 (7)
Expense related to share-based payments and Company Savings Plans 94,95 25 61
Cost of net financial debt 12.7 154 170
Net interest paid (152) (181)
Net change in interest income (expense) 2 (11)
Other items with no cash impact © 3 44 669
before changes in net working capital 2886 3.165
(Increase) decrease in inventories (667) 41
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (424) 74
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 879 324
Change in other receivables and payables 289 (162)
Change in working capital requirements 7.4 77 277
Cash flows provided by operating activities 2,964 3,442
Capital expenditure © 7.5 (873) (847)
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment ® 7.5 30 15
Net cash outflows on purchases of subsidiaries and financial investments 52,54,63 (100) (162)
Net cash inflows on disposal of subsidiaries and financial investments 52,6.3,6.6 206 177
(Increase) decrease in long-term loans and other long-term financial assets (12) (17)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investment activities (749) (834)
Increase in share capital and additional paid-in capital 51 69
Purchase of treasury shares (net of disposals) 15.2 - -
Net issuance of undated subordinated notes 124 - (750)
Interest expense and redemption premium on undated subordinated notes 124 (18) (18)
Dividends paid to Danone shareholders @ 15.5 (1,238) (1,279)
Buyout of non-controlling interests 5.6 (91) (118)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (80) (62)
Contribution from non-controlling interests to capital increases 17 0
Transactions with non-controlling interests (153) (181)
Net cash flows on hedging derivatives © 4 0
Bonds issued during the period 123,124 600 1,597
Bonds redeemed during the period 123,124 (1,682) (1,852)
Net cash flows from other current and non-current financial debt 12.3 (1,032) 577
Net cash flows from short-term investments 125 1,535 (220)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities ® (1,934) (2,057)
Effect of exchange rate and other changes 112 (503)
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4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2022

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 392 49
Cash and cash equivalents as of start of period 659 1,051
Cash and cash equivalents as of end of period 1,051 2,363
Net cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 ) 721 1,099

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Income tax payments during the year (716) (730)

(@

(b)
©

(d)
(e)
®
@)
(h)

Mainly includes the impact of recycling translation adjustments related to EDP Russia business following the deconsolidation on July 16, 2023 (see Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements).

Relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operating activities.

Acquisition/disposal of companies’ shares. In the case of fully consolidated companies, this comprises cash and cash equivalents as of the acquisition/disposal
date.

Portion paid in cash.

Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.

Including €37 million relating to the change in bank overdrafts as of December 31, 2022.

Effect of reclassification with no impact on net debt.

Bank overdrafts amounted to €330 million as of December 31, 2022.

Cash flows correspond to items presented in the consolidated balance sheet. However, these may differ from the changes shown in assets and
liabilities in the balance sheet, mainly as a result of the rules for (i) translating into euros transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency, (i) translating into euros the financial statements of companies with a functional currency other than the euro, (iii) changes in the
consolidation scope, and (iv) other non-monetary items.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Changes during the period
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(in € millions) Notes < o S o5 &3z 8% Sa 068 o <
Share capital 169 - - - - - - - - 169
Additional paid-in capital 5,188 - 68 - - - - 5,256
Retained earnings and other © 15 17,916 881 = = 61 (1,279) (768) (138) 173 16,845
Translation adjustments (3,398) (638) - - - - - - - (4,036)
Gains and losses related to hedging
derivatives, net of tax (165) (28) - - - - - - - (194)
Gains and losses on assets recognized at fair
value through other comprehensive income,
net of tax 26 (13) - - - - - - - 13
Actuarial gains and losses on retirement
commitments not recyclable to profit or loss,
net of tax 9 (243) (83) - - - - - - - (326)
Other comprehensive income (382) (125) - - - - - - - (507)
DANONE treasury shares 15.2 (1,569) - - 17 - - - - - (1,552)
Equity - Group share 17,923 118 69 17 61 (1,279) (768) (138) 173 16,176
Non-controlling interests 69 69 - - - (62) - (26) 3) 46
Consolidated equity 17,992 187 69 17 61 (1,341) (768) (164) 170 16,222

(a) "Other" corresponds to undated subordinated notes totaling €500 million.
(b) See Notes 9.4 and 9.5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Changes during the period
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Share capital 172 - - (3) - - - - - 169
Additional paid-in capital 5,934 - 51 (797) - - - - - 5,188
Retained earnings and other @ 15 18,038 959 - - 25 (1,238) (13)  (127) 272 17,916
Translation adjustments (3,834) 368 - - - - - 68 - (3,398)
Gains and losses related to hedging
derivatives, net of tax (188) 23 - - - - - - - (165)
Gains and losses on assets recognized at fair
value through other comprehensive income,
net of tax 41 (15) - - - - - - - 26
Actuarial gains and losses on retirement
commitments not recyclable to profit or loss,
net of tax 9 (509) 266 - - - - - - - (243)
Other comprehensive income (656) 274 - - - - - - - (382)
DANONE treasury shares 15.2 (2,380) - - 811 - - - - - (1,569)
Equity - Group share 17,273 1,601 51 10 25 (1,238) (13) (59) 272 17,923
Non-controlling interests 102 35 17 - - (80) - (29) 24 69
Consolidated equity 17,375 1,636 68 10 25 (1,318) (13) (88) 296 17,992

(a) "Other" corresponds to undated subordinated notes totaling €1.25 billion.

(b) See Notes 9.4 and 9.5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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\'[e2) Ml ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Note 1.1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Danone (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2023 were approved by its Board of Directors on
February 21, 2024 and will be submitted for approval to the
Shareholders’ Meeting on April 25, 2024.

The consolidated financial statements and the notes to the
consolidated financial statements are presented in euros. Unless
otherwise mentioned, amounts are stated in millions of euros and
rounded to the nearest million. Generally speaking, the values
presented are rounded to the nearest unit. Consequently, the rounded

amounts may differ slightly from the reported totals. Ratios and
variances are calculated on the basis of the underlying amounts and
not on the basis of the rounded amounts.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
management to make estimates, assumptions and appraisals that
affect the reported amounts in the consolidated balance sheet,
consolidated income statement and notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The main such estimates and assumptions relate to:

Notes
Assessment of the effects of climate changes 14
Classification of investments in the process of being sold 52
Determination of the amount of rebates, discounts and other deductions relating to agreements with customers 7.1
Measurement of deferred tax assets 10.3
Measurement of the recoverable amount of intangible assets 1.3
Determination of the amount of other provisions and non-current liabilities 16.2,16.3

These assumptions, estimates and appraisals are made on the basis of
the information available and the conditions in force at the end of the
financial period presented. Actual amounts may differ from those
estimates, particularly in the wider macroeconomic context of the
Ukraine-Russia conflict (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements).

Note 1.2.

Accounting framework applied

In addition to the use of estimates, Danone’s management uses its
judgment to define the accounting treatment for certain activities and
transactions, when they are not explicitly addressed in IFRS and related
interpretations. This applies particularly to the recognition of put
options granted to non-controlling interests.

The Group's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) as
adopted by the European Union, which are available on the website of
the European Commission.

Main standards, amendments and
interpretations whose application is
mandatory as of January 1, 2023

The following amendments apply to reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2023:

B IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”;

W [AS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”;

W AS 8 "Definition of an Accounting Estimate”;

B IAS 12 "Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction”;
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B [AS 12 "International Tax Reform - Pillar Il Model Rules".

This new standard and these amendments had no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2023.

Main standards, amendments and
interpretations published by the IASB whose
application is not mandatory in the
European Union as of January 1, 2023

Danone did not choose to early adopt any such standards,
amendments or interpretations in its consolidated financial statements

for the year ended December 31, 2023, and does not expect them to
have a material impact on its results or financial position.
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Note 1.3. Application of IAS 29

Accounting principles

IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” requires the
non-monetary assets and liabilities and income statements of
countries with hyperinflationary economies to be restated to reflect the
changes in the general purchasing power of their functional currency,
thereby generating a profit or loss on the net monetary position which
is recognized in net income within “Other financial income” or “Other
financial expense”. In addition, the financial statements of the
subsidiaries in these countries are translated at the closing exchange
rate for the reporting period concerned, in accordance with IAS 21.

Application and main accounting
implications

Danone has applied IAS 29 to Argentina in its financial statements as
from the year ended December 31, 2018, to Iran as from the year
ended December 31, 2020, to Turkey as from the year ended
December 31, 2022 and to Ghana as from the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Argentina

In 2023, Danone used (i) the consumer price index (CPI) to remeasure
its income statement items, cash flows and non-monetary assets and
liabilities, the amounts of which increased by 210% versus 2022 and (ii)
a EUR/ARS exchange rate of 893.2 (188.8 in 2022) to translate its
income statement. The application of IAS 29 resulted in a €(83) million
impact on consolidated equity and non-monetary assets net of non-
monetary liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (negative impact of €18
million as of December 31, 2022), and had the following main impacts
on the 2023 consolidated income statement:

B a €198 million decline in consolidated sales and a €59 million
decrease in recurring operating income (decrease of €16 million
and of €61 million, respectively, in 2022);

Note 1.4.

B a2 €6 million negative impact on the net monetary position
recognized in “Other financial expense” (negative impact of
€5 million in 2022);

B 2 €99 million expense in "Net income - Group share" (€113 million
expense in 2022).

Turkey

In 2023, Danone used (i) the consumer price index (CPI) to remeasure
its income statement items, cash flows and non-monetary assets and
liabilities, the amounts of which increased by 65% versus 2022 and (ii) a
EUR/TRY exchange rate of 32.6 (20.0 in 2022) to translate its income
statement. The application of IAS 29 resulted in a €150 million impact
on consolidated equity and on non-monetary assets net of non-
monetary liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (€121 million as of
December 31, 2022) and had the following main impacts on the 2023
consolidated income statement:

B 3 €0.4 million decrease in consolidated sales and a €2.7 million
increase in recurring operating income;

B 3 €349 million negative impact on the net monetary position,
recognized in "Other financial expense";

B a2 €33 million expense in “Net income - Group share”.

Ghana

In accordance with the criteria set out in IAS 29, Ghana has been
classified as a hyperinflationary economy since December 2023.
Danone has applied IAS 29 to Ghana with effect from January 1, 2023.
Information in respect of previous periods has not been restated.
Danone does not consider the application of IAS 29 to Ghana to have
had a material impact on the 2023 financial statements.

Iran

The application of IAS 29 to Iran did not have a material impact on the
2023 financial statements.

Assessment of the effects of climate change

In view of:
B the nature of Danone’s business and its geographical location;

B the nature and extent of the current and potential impacts of the
climate change risks and opportunities as identified and assessed in
its Risk factors and its Non-financial information statement;

Danone did not identify any significant impacts for 2023 as described
in Note 11.3 to the consolidated financial statements relating to the
impairment review of its intangible assets.

In particular:

M its carbon credit commitments and positions were not material as
of December 31, 2023, and no material liability was recognized in
the consolidated balance sheet in this respect;

B no material provision for environmental liabilities and risks was
recognized on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2023,

B in 2023, the Group did not identify any significant impacts resulting
from the commitments made in this respect on the value of its
property, plant and equipment. In particular, the implementation of
the action plans necessary to adapt production tools does not call
into question their useful lives.

On February 22, 2023, Danone also unveiled its new roadmap (Danone
Impact Journey), detailing its objectives and commitments for combating
climate change, such as its ambition to reduce its methane emissions by
2030, as announced in its press release of January 17, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group has projected in its business
plans the assumptions relating to the impacts of the Danone Impact
Journey roadmap. As described in Note 11.3 to the consolidated
financial statements, no additional impairment losses were recorded
for the 2023 financial year as a result of including these impacts in the
impairment tests.
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Note 1.5.

Application of IFRS Interpretations Committee decisions

Danone has not identified any standards or interpretations applicable to the consolidated financial statements, as published by the IFRS IC
(International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee), for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(\[oa) Al SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR

Note 2.1.

Changes in the geography-led organization

On January 18, 2023, Danone announced the strengthening of its
leadership team to sharpen the delivery of its “Renew Danone”
strategy. The changes made took effect from February 1, 2023, and the
changes in the organizational structure are therefore reflected in the
Group's consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023.

In 2023, the primary operating decision-makers (Chief Executive Officer
Antoine de SAINT-AFFRIQUE and Chief Financial Officer, Technology &
Data, Jurgen ESSER) monitored and assessed Danone's performance
by geographical zone, as explained below.

Impacts on the consolidated financial
statements

Operating segments

In order to reflect changes in the geography-led organization, the
Group changed its operating segments as defined by IFRS 8. It now
has the following four operating segments along with one aggregated
segment:

B Europe, which now includes Ukraine (previously included in the Rest
of the World segment);

B North America,
(unchanged);

comprising the United States and Canada

B China, North Asia & Oceania (unchanged);
B Latin America (previously included in the Rest of the World
segment);

B The Rest of the World, including the AMEA (Asia, Middle East
including Turkey, Africa) and CIS regions.

The Group has maintained its category-based reporting for sales,
recurring net income and recurring operating margin for EDP,
Specialized Nutrition (SN) and Waters.

It has been monitoring its business on the basis of these new
operating segments since January 1, 2023. In order to provide a
meaningful comparison, all segment information for the previous
period has been restated (see Note 7.2 to the consolidated financial
statements).

Cash-generating units (CGUs)

In accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets", Danone carried out
an analysis to ensure that each CGU or group of CGUs to which
goodwill is allocated:

B represents the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes; and

W is not larger than an operating segment as defined by IFRS 8
"Operating Segments" before aggregation.

Following the strengthening of its governance and the reorganization
of its operating segments (see Note 10.3 to the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2022), the Group reviewed the
definition of its CGUs and groups of CGUs to which goodwill was
allocated as from January 1, 2023. This analysis did not lead to any
changes to its CGUs or groups of CGUs.

Note 2.2. Other significant events

Notes
Impact of the Ukraine-Russia conflict on Danone 3
Sale of the assets related to the US premium organic dairy activities 4

DANONE - UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2023



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

\'[ea) 3Bl IMPACT OF THE UKRAINE-RUSSIA CONFLICT ON DANONE

Note 3.1. Background

Danone’s position in Russia

B On October 14, 2022, Danone announced its decision to initiate a
process to transfer the effective control of its Essential Dairy and
Plant-Based (EDP) business in Russia. Danone considers that this is
the best option to ensure long-term local business continuity for its
employees, consumers and partners.

B OnJuly 16, 2023, Danone took note of the decision of the Russian
authorities, aiming at placing Danone Russia under the temporary
external  administration ~ of = Russian  federal = agency
Rosimushchestvo.

Note 3.2.

B OnJuly 18, 2023, the Russian authorities indicated that the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Danone Russia (EDP) had
been changed. These changes took place without the knowledge of,
or approval by, Danone.

Impacts on the 2023 consolidated financial statements

As a consequence, Danone no longer retains control of its EDP
operations in Russia, although it remains their legal owner.

Danone has reflected the accounting impacts of the lack of control
over the EDP business in the 2023 consolidated financial statements,
which resulted in a loss of €706 million, mainly comprising net assets
for around €219 million and recycling of cumulative translation
adjustments for €487 million.

Danone’s residual exposure in Russia

The Group's residual exposure corresponds mainly to the portion
relating to Danone’s subsidiaries in Russia of the currency translation
adjustments accumulated within consolidated equity and totaling

€(661) million as of December 31, 2023 for the Specialized Nutrition
business. As of December 31, 2022, the currency translation
adjustments accumulated within consolidated equity amounted to a
negative €(634) million for the Specialized Nutrition business. These
translation adjustments have been accumulated since Danone
acquired its Russian operations.

As of December 31, 2023, Danone has cash and cash equivalents for
the Specialized Nutrition business in Russia. The Group considers that
these amounts are not material. These amounts can be immediately
mobilized and are required to finance the Group's current operations
in the country. Some cross-border transactions are subject to
administrative authorizations.

(o) 3 SALE OF THE ASSETS RELATED TO THE US PREMIUM ORGANIC

DAIRY ACTIVITIES

Note 4.1. Background

On January 2, 2024, Danone announced it had signed an agreement to
sell its premium organic dairy activity in the United States to Platinum
Equity, a US-based investment firm.

The sale is part of Danone's portfolio review and asset rotation
program announced in March 2022, as part of its “Renew Danone”
strategy.

Note 4.2.

In 2023, as in 2022, the US premium organic dairy activities,
comprising the Horizon Organic and Wallaby businesses, accounted
for around 3% of Danone's global sales. These activities are part of the
Noram operating segment.

Impacts on the 2023 consolidated financial statements

Following the signature of this agreement, the completion of which is
subject to the customary c